Nigeria Agricultural Policy Project

# MACROECONOMIC FACTOR INFLUENCE ON AGRICULTURAL PROGRAM SUSTAINABILITY IN KADUNA STATE, NIGERIA

By

Patrick L. Hatzenbuehler and George Mavrotas











## Food Security Policy Research Papers

This Research Paper series is designed to timely disseminate research and policy analytical outputs generated by the USAID funded Feed the Future Innovation Lab for Food Security Policy (FSP) and its Associate Awards. The FSP project is managed by the Food Security Group (FSG) of the Department of Agricultural, Food, and Resource Economics (AFRE) at Michigan State University (MSU), and implemented in partnership with the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) and the University of Pretoria (UP). Together, the MSU-IFPRI-UP consortium works with governments, researchers and private sector stakeholders in Feed the Future focus countries in Africa and Asia to increase agricultural productivity, improve dietary diversity and build greater resilience to challenges like climate change that affect livelihoods.

The papers are aimed at researchers, policy makers, donor agencies, educators, and international development practitioners. Selected papers will be translated into French, Portuguese, or other languages.

Copies of all FSP Research Papers and Policy Briefs are freely downloadable in pdf format from the following Web site: <a href="http://foodsecuritypolicy.msu.edu/">http://foodsecuritypolicy.msu.edu/</a>

Copies of all FSP papers and briefs are also submitted to the USAID Development Experience Clearing House (DEC) at: <a href="http://dec.usaid.gov/">http://dec.usaid.gov/</a>

#### **AUTHORS**

Patrick L. Hatzenbuehler is an Associate Research Fellow with IFPRI's Nigeria Strategy Support Program, based in Abuja.

**George Mavrotas** is a Senior Research Fellow and Program Leader of IFPRI's Nigeria Strategy Support Program, based in Abuja.

## **AUTHORS' ACKNOWLEDGMENT**

This paper has been prepared as part of the Feed the Future Nigeria Agricultural Policy Project through the Nigeria Strategy Support Program (NSSP) managed by the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). The research presented here was conducted as part of the CGIAR Research Program on Policies, Institutions, and Markets (PIM) which is led by IFPRI.

This Research Paper was prepared for USAID/Nigeria by Michigan State University (MSU), Federal Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development (Nigeria), and the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) under the USAID/Nigeria funded Food Security Policy Innovation Lab Associate Award, contract number AID-620-LA-15-00001.

This study was made possible by the generous support of the American people through the United States Agency for International Development (USAID). This publication has not been independently peer reviewed and the contents are the responsibility of Michigan State University and the International Food Policy Research Institute. Any opinions expressed here belong to the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of MSU, IFPRI, PIM, CGIAR, USAID or the United States Government.

We thank Prof. Zakari Abdulsalam, Professor of Agricultural Economics at Ahmadu Bello University, Dr. Makama Aliyu Saleh, Researcher and Desk Officer at the National Agricultural Extension Research and Liaison Service, and Mrs. Jamila Rabe Mani, graduate student in the Department of Agricultural Economics at Ahmadu Bello University for their consultations and assistance with data gathering. We are also grateful for the comments and suggestions provided by participants in the IFPRI RISE Research Day Seminar presentation on Wednesday, 13 September 2017, in Washington DC, including those by Xin Geng, Tewodaj Mogues, Margaret McMillan, Xinshen Diao, Samuel Benin, and John Ulimwengu, among others. Responsibility for all errors and omissions lies with the authors.

This Food Security Policy Research Paper has also been published as <u>Nigeria Strategic Support Program Working Paper No. 48 in September 2017.</u>

This study is made possible by the generous support of the American people through the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) under the Feed the Future initiative. The contents are the responsibility of the study authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of USAID or the United States Government

Copyright © 2017, Michigan State University and International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). All rights reserved. This material may be reproduced for personal and not-for-profit use without permission from but with acknowledgment to MSU and IFPRI.

Published by the Department of Agricultural, Food, and Resource Economics, Michigan State University, Justin S. Morrill Hall of Agriculture, 446 West Circle Dr., Room 202, East Lansing,

#### **ABSTRACT**

In this paper, we measure the degree to which a change in key macroeconomic variables, such as the global oil price, influences the ability of state Ministries of Agriculture in Nigeria to sustain agricultural program funding. More precisely, we estimate and compare the degree to which Nigerian federal and Kaduna state (hereafter Kaduna) government revenues co-move with the global oil price, assess the degree to which the Kaduna government has historically relied on federal allocations to fund its activities, and evaluate the share of the Kaduna Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry (KDMAF) budget that is provided by donors in order to measure how much the KDMAF budgetary condition can change due to adjustments in the global oil price or reductions in donor funds.

Historical fiscal data and empirical results show that the federal government structure and heavy reliance of the Nigerian federal government on oil sector fees and rents for its revenues mean that changes in the global oil price substantially influence budgetary conditions in all levels of government. The institutional structure of the federal government, however, also provides an opportunity for the Federal Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development (FMARD) to provide a buffer to state Ministries of Agriculture during periods of poor state government funding conditions, such as when donor funds are reduced or removed. This is because FMARD has some autonomy regarding the allocation of its own budget and can reserve part of it to temporarily support programs of state Ministries of Agriculture that advance the FMARD policy agenda. Therefore, improving budgetary coordination between the federal and state government Agricultural Ministries would plausibly help sustain agricultural program funding levels over time.

Keywords: public expenditures; oil price; agricultural programs; Nigeria; Kaduna.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

AB	STRACT	iv
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
2.	LITERATURE REVIEW	2
	Commodity Price Cycles and Fiscal Response in Resource-dependent Economies	2
	Agricultural Policy Characteristics and Fiscal Policy Linkages	4
	Fiscal Structure and Agricultural Program Implementation in Nigeria	6
3.	TYPOLOGIES OF IRRIGATOR FARM HOUSEHOLDS IN NIGERIA	7
	Government	7
	Federal government	8
	State government	8
	State Ministry of Agriculture	9
	Households	9
	Small farmer	10
	Big farmer	11
	Non-farm households	11
	Total income and expenditures	11
	Model Solving	11
4.	DATA MODEL AND SIMULATION VALUES	12
	Federal Fiscal Data	12
	Kaduna Fiscal Data	14
	Kaduna Government Revenues and Expenditures on Agriculture	14
	Budget of the KDMAF	15
	Household Data	16
	Household Characteristics	16
	Economy-wide Variables	18
	Model Simulation Values	19
5.	SIMULATION SCENARIOS AND RESULTS	20
6.	CONCLUDING REMARKS	24
RE	FERENCES	25
AP	PENDICES	32
	Appendix A: List of variables and parameters in the model	32

Appendix B: Outline of the full economic model	33
Appendix C: Parameter and exogenous variable initial values	34
LIST OF TABLES	
Table 4. 1 Select information on government revenues in Nigeria, 2000-2016, billions of Naira	12
Table 4. 2 Correlation between Nigerian government total revenue and world oil price, 2000-2016	13
Table 4. 3 Kaduna government fiscal conditions, correlation of Kaduna government revenues with global oil price	ce,
and allocations to the KDMAF, 2000 – 2016	15
Table 4. 4 KDMAF budget for 2016, billions of Naira	16
Table 4. 5 Annual expenditures on food and other goods by household type, thousands of Naira	16
Table 4. 6 Annual income by source, by household type, thousands of Naira	17
Table 4. 7 Average farm production by farm type	
Table 4. 8 Annual farm input and labor expenditures by farm type, thousands of Naira	18
Table 4. 9 Labor endowments and labor share of total farm input expenditures by farm type	18
Table 4. 10 Total expenditures on durable goods, vat tax rates, and loan interest rates	19
Table 5. 1 Change in variable values due to decreases in the global oil price	
Table 5. 2 Change in variable values due to increases in the global oil price	
Table 5. 3 Change in variable values due to decreases in donor funds	
Table 5. 4 Change in variable values due to reductions in the loan interest rate for small farmers	

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

In its promotion of agriculture as a potential driver for economic growth and poverty reduction in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), the World Bank highlighted the crucial need to increase smallholder farmer productivity to increase marketable surpluses (World Bank 2007). Productivity and input use statistics for SSA farmers relative to those in all other parts of the world make it clear that low productivity and input use has been a stubborn "steady state" for some time. In identifying the challenge of breaking out of this undesirable status quo, the World Bank highlighted the importance of support by donors to expand the capacity of SSA government institutions, especially those that at the state and local level that are closely connected to farmers, to improve the investment climate for development of modern agricultural supply chains (World Bank 2007).

In the case of Nigeria, the focus country for this study, Diao et al. (2012) estimated that substantial increases in public investment in agriculture, such as funding research for improved agricultural technologies, are needed to achieve agricultural growth and poverty reduction goals. However, funding levels for agricultural programs in Nigeria vary across states and over time (Olomola et al. 2014). Additionally, among Nigerian states, there are differences in the structure and capacity of agricultural program implementing institutions, and the relative share of funding that comes from different actors, including donors, in those institutions (Olofinbiyi and Mogues 2016).

The challenge of increasing government institutional capacity is inherently linked to the current fiscal structure and conditions in each country, since these conditions determine the availability of funds for agricultural and other publicly funded programs. In many developing countries, however, public revenue generating institutions currently have poor institutional capacity (G20 2016). The issue of expanding the tax bases and diversifying the tax portfolio of developing countries has been a recent focus of the group of twenty (G20) major economies. In 2016, the G20 requested advice from the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), the United Nations (UN), and the World Bank to determine ways in which developed country member governments can assist with expanding tax revenue generation capacity in developing countries (G20 2016).

In the Nigerian case, federal government revenue has been primarily generated from oil industry fees and rents since the 1970s (Collier 1988; IMF 2016). The heavy reliance on the oil sector for government funds has caused great instability in federal budget revenues over time (Ebeke and Ehrhart 2011a), and has created challenges for fiscal policy management during periods of steep oil price fluctuations like between 2014 and 2015 (Konuki and Villafuerte 2016). This federal fiscal budget instability creates uncertainty regarding funding allocation levels and timing for implementation of publicly funded government programs, including those for agriculture.

The history of the Agricultural Development Programs (ADP), the primary agricultural extension agencies in Nigeria, is instructive for why fiscal capacity and economic structure is a key determinant of current and future expenditure allocations. The ADPs were initially established in the 1970s as a pilot program by the World Bank in a few states in Nigeria. The success of these pilots led to the establishment of an ADP in each state, operated under the administration of individual state Ministries of Agriculture (IEG 2012). Over time, however, ADPs in some states and in some periods, have been severely underfunded, hampering their ability to initiate or continue already ongoing agricultural programs (NAERLS and FDAE 2013). It is plausible that

the states with ADPs that are best funded have fiscal conditions and economic structures that are conducive for facilitation of public funding allocations to agricultural policy activities.

In this study, we measure the degree to which a change in key macroeconomic variables, such as the global oil price, influences the ability for state Ministries of Agriculture to sustain agricultural program funding. To highlight the issue of dependence of state governments on the federal allocation, and the state Ministry of Agriculture on donor funds, a two-period simulation model was developed to represent the economy of Kaduna, a Nigerian state with a relatively large geographic scope and population. The simulation model results show that changes in the global oil price and levels of donor funds can have pronounced effects on state government and Ministry of Agriculture budgets. This implies that improved coordination between the FMARD and state Ministries of Agriculture and institutional mechanisms that can provide funding relief for state Ministries of Agriculture during poor fiscal conditions periods would help sustain agricultural programs over time.

#### 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

The literatures on commodity price cycles and fiscal response in resource-dependent economies, the typical characteristics of agricultural policies, and the specific fiscal structure and agricultural policy implementation mechanisms in Nigeria are relevant for the discussion of Nigerian agricultural funding levels and changes over time.

## Commodity Price Cycles and Fiscal Response in Resource-dependent Economies

Many resource-rich countries, defined as those for which natural resources, such as metals and energy, comprise a large share of economic output, government revenue, and foreign exchange (IMF 2012), in SSA, including Nigeria, experienced generally slow average economic growth from the end of the "Commodity Boom" of 1973-1980 until the early 2000's (Bova et al. 2016). The reasons for this are multiple and complicated. First, natural resource dependence can spur "Dutch Disease", under which the shift in focus to the oil sector causes appreciation in the domestic currency relative to other currencies, rendering the production of non-oil products for the export market less competitive. Furthermore, in the Nigerian case, dependence on government revenue from oil fees and rents increases its exposure to global oil price volatility and limits its ability to use fiscal measures to stimulate the economy during economic downturns (Otaha 2012). More importantly, the discovery of oil in Nigeria has limited diversification of the economy through development of other sectors, including agriculture.

Second, resources can create a "rentier effect," which encourages governance arrangements that are unfavorable to growth. This is because the "rents" from natural resources reduce the need for the government to tax the population and, consequently, remove a significant degree of accountability from its spending (Ross 2001). The resultant decline in trust in government institutions can reduce the effectiveness of regulatory and legal institutions that are necessary to create a conducive environment for long-term domestic and international investments in economically vibrant sectors (Ross 2001). Institutional quality is, thus, linked to resource dependence and the resulting rents (Mavrotas et al. 2011). Fierce competition for resource rents

among the citizenry in the absence of adequate checks and balances also hinders growth, and can lead to domestic unrest and civil war (Collier and Hoeffler 2009).<sup>1</sup>

In the most recent commodity boom period of 2003-08, global energy and metals prices maintained a steady upward trend, and developing country exporters of these commodities, including Nigeria, experienced relatively high economic growth rates because of these favorable commodity price movements (Baffes and Haniotis 2010; Frankel 2011). The commodity boom led to a fiscal windfall in which resource-based fees and rents obtained by the government increased in line with commodity prices (Ehrhart and Guérineau 2011). The subsequent improvement in fiscal conditions led many developing countries, especially oil exporters, to implement expansionary fiscal policies (Konuki and Villafuerte 2016).

These linkages between commodity price trends, fiscal conditions, and fiscal policy implementation observed during recent commodity booms are consistent with general patterns of procyclical fiscal policies observed over the past few decades, in which government expenditures move upward (downward) during expansions (recessions) (Talvi and Végh 2005). The general tendency for developing country governments to adopt procyclical fiscal policy was found to broadly apply for countries in SSA during the period 2000-14. Moreover, it was more common for oil exporting countries to implement procyclical fiscal policies over this period than was the case for mineral exporters or non-oil and non-mineral exporting countries (Konuki and Villafuerte 2016). These recent procyclical trends in SSA fiscal policy are consistent with earlier findings by Fielding (1997), which showed that variation in government expenditure was highly correlated with government revenue variance. This observed co-movement of government revenues and expenditures is a concern because it influences the ability to initiate and maintain public investments and programs. For instance, the unavailability of tax revenue due to an economic downturn can prevent implementation of long-term infrastructure or agricultural research projects, and, thus, reduce overall economic potential output and dampen future growth potential (IMF 2015).

The existence of intermittent commodity booms and busts over time, the co-movement of commodity prices with government revenues, and the dependency of government expenditures on government revenues results in generally unstable fiscal conditions in SSA countries with resource-dependent government budgets (Bleaney et al. 1995; Ebeke and Ehrhart 2011a). The degree to which tax revenues are unstable varies across countries, however, and is dependent on both economic structure and the mechanisms in the tax portfolio used to obtain government revenues. Ebeke and Ehrhart (2011a) found that governments that are relatively more reliant on natural resource export taxes and fees for government revenue have relatively unstable government revenue streams compared to governments that rely on domestic taxes, such as taxes on income, and indirect taxes such as value-added taxes (VAT). Additionally, adoption of VATs, which has become increasingly common in SSA countries in recent decades (Ebeke and Ehrhart 2011a), has a stabilizing effect on fiscal revenues (Bleaney et al. 1995; Ebeke and Ehrhart 2011b). This is because indirect taxes, such as the VAT, are linked to final consumption, which is relatively stable compared to exports, imports, or corporate profits that are determined by fluctuations in the domestic and global macroeconomic performance (Ebeke and Ehrhart 2011b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See also Auty (1997), Sachs and Warner (2001), Mehlum et al. (2006), Collier and Goderis (2007), and Mavrotas et al. 2011), among others, for detailed discussions of issues related to the natural resource curse and its effects on economic growth and fiscal conditions in resource-dependent countries.

The above described stylized facts of generally higher government revenue instability and procyclical fiscal policies for resource-dependent countries in SSA apply for Nigeria. In recent years, the Nigerian government has implemented a mix of procyclical and countercyclical fiscal policy regimes, but the decline in global oil prices between 2014 and 2015 has coincided with a large fiscal contraction, and thus, a resumption of a procyclical fiscal stance (Kanuki and Villafuerte 2016).

In 2012, the International Monetary Fund released a report that provided guidance for resource-rich developing country governments, and in doing so, emphasized the importance of conversion of natural resources into other financial and non-financial assets that can lead to sustainable economic growth (IMF 2012). Conversion of natural resources to other assets is a challenge because the financial flows needed to purchase non-resource assets have tended to co-move with the oil price in oil exporting countries (Khandelwal et al. 2016). Additionally, large fluctuations in macroeconomic performance of oil exporting countries due to oil price volatility creates substantial uncertainty regarding future macroeconomic performance, which can impede both domestic and foreign capital flows used for investment in productivity enhancing industries (Hadis 2016).

The fiscal response literature, within which the study by Heller (1975) was pioneering, has been reignited in recent years considering the persistent challenges faced by governments that are dependent on resources for government revenue.<sup>2</sup> For example, Agénor (2016) developed a macroeconomic model of optimal fiscal response to a commodity price shock for a low-income resource-dependent country with low levels of infrastructure investment.<sup>3</sup> This model emphasizes the trade-off made by a government to either save intermittent resource windfalls for future use or to immediately make crucially needed infrastructure investments, and accounts for the revealed preferences of developing country governments that have sought to minimize both household consumption variability and macroeconomic volatility (Agénor 2016).

This fiscal response literature is germane to the present case of agricultural program implementation in Nigeria, since a commodity price shock effect on federal government revenues influences the availability of public funds to allocate to state governments. In the next section, the typical characteristics of agricultural policies are discussed to discern how public spending on agriculture may vary from other uses of government revenues. The implications of the Nigerian state-level economic structure and tax composition on agricultural policy implementation and sustainability there are discussed afterward.

## Agricultural Policy Characteristics and Fiscal Policy Linkages

The findings of Fielding (1997) that SSA government expenditure is determined by government revenues implies that revenue instability impacts intertemporal flows of government expenditures to fund both public investment and social programs. Since the instability in government revenues is particularly high in resource-dependent countries (Ebeke and Ehrhart 2011a), it follows that expenditure instability is also high in these countries. Fluctuations in government expenditures have implications for all sectors within which the

4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Following the seminal paper by Heller (1975), the fiscal response literature has seen various applications since then, with extensive use in many aid effectiveness studies examining the linkages between aid inflows and fiscal conditions in aid recipient countries. In this context, early fiscal response studies include Gang and Khan (1990), Khan and Hoshino (1992), and Otim (1996) as well as more recent studies by Mavrotas (2002, 2005), Gupta et al. (2004), Mavrotas and Ouattara (2006a, b), Ouattara (2006a, b), and Mavrotas and Ouattara (2007). Mavrotas (2010, 2015) provide further discussion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Primus (2016) developed a similar model for the specific case of Trinidad and Tobago.

government is active, but the historical nature of agricultural policies mean that large fluctuations in government budgets are plausibly non-ideal for implementation of agricultural policies that often require consistent expenditures during specific periods every crop year.

A mix of agricultural and trade policies have been implemented in developed countries to address the "farm problem" of low and unstable earnings from farming (Schultz 1945; Gardner 1992). In the United States, trade policy has been used since the country was founded to protect domestic producers from import competition (Sumner 2007). Modern trade agreements have lessened protections for many crops, but support for farmers continues in the form of redistributive transfers from taxpayers and consumers to farmers to support farm income through direct transfers and/or price supports (Gardner 1992; Sumner 2007).

Agricultural policies in developing countries have historically been designed with many of the same elements as in developed countries, but differences in the impetus to implement agricultural or trade policies arise due to dissimilarities in the fiscal structure. Developing countries have relied relatively heavily on agricultural trade taxes to obtain government revenue, because they are relatively easier to administer than other types of taxes (Rodrik 1995). More recently, however, some developing countries have taxed agricultural trade less. This is in part due to an "agricultural transformation" taking place in which agriculture accounts for a smaller share, and other industries a larger share, of GDP over time (Brooks 2010; Anderson et al. 2013; Diao and McMillan 2017). The decline in tax share from agricultural trade has also coincided with a rise of more diversified tax sources such as indirect taxes, e.g., VAT, in many developing countries (Ebeke and Ehrhart 2011a), which is expected as economies diversify.

In recent years, agricultural policy in some developing has started to resemble agricultural policy in developed countries, such that many countries have implemented direct interventions in agricultural markets to stabilize output prices, as well as to provide input subsidies (Brooks 2010). These agricultural market interventions are like historical developed country agricultural policies in that they are designed to raise and reduce the volatility of farmer income through transfers from taxpayers or consumers.

Not all agricultural policy expenditures are direct transfers to farmers. Expenditures on agricultural research and development, for example, are viewed as a public good that lead to farm productivity gains in the long-run (Benin et al. 2016). However, agricultural research expenditures are presently relatively small in terms of budget shares for SSA country governments as compared to input subsidies (Benin et al. 2016). This is plausibly due to the long lag in crediting a policymaker with the success of a research and development investment output that are commonly not ready to disseminate to farms for many years past program inception (Mogues 2015).

Implementation of agricultural policies in their current form has invited controversy in both developed and developing countries. In the developed country case, criticisms of agricultural policy include: they are commonly not the most efficient manner to address the issue of farmer income levels; and, that the problem that they were initially designed to address arguably no longer exists due to structural changes in the agricultural economy (Gardner 1992; Sumner 2007). The issue of persistence of agricultural policy is, thus, often explained in the context of political economy, such that implementation of the policy leads to enough benefits to farmers and policymakers that they lobby for its continued implementation (Anderson et al. 2013). The economic model developed by Coate and Morris (1999) provides insights into how such a status quo

becomes the preferred policy strategy by showing that implementation of a policy can cause agents to act to benefit from the enacted policy, and the costs associated with the effort to take this action raises their willingness to pay for the policy.

Criticisms of developing country agricultural policy persistence are more nuanced and, in cases in which market failures are rampant and markets for credit or inputs do not exist, are also more difficult to defend (Brooks 2010). The main argument against developing country agricultural policy persistence is that they often do not address the main factors causing existing market failures, and may inhibit market development (Brooks 2010). However, country context is viewed as important in consideration of the merits of agricultural policies, and publicly funded subsidy programs may be designed in a manner that encourages the development of input markets, especially in cases of missing markets (World Bank 2007).

## Fiscal Structure and Agricultural Program Implementation in Nigeria

The previous two sections provide background to the goals of this study. The section on tax revenue volatility and fiscal policy showed that developing countries, especially resource-rich countries, have recently had procyclical fiscal policy stances and more revenue volatility. Additionally, for SSA countries, for which expenditure variation has been found to be determined by revenue variation (Fielding 1997), design of a fiscal policy aimed to both minimize variation in consumption and volatility in macroeconomic performance – as in the model by Agénor (2016) – is a challenge, since these countries have many pressing needs for uses of public funds. The linkages between agriculture, government revenues, and government expenditures were also discussed.

Nigeria's division of government between federal, state, and local levels provides an opportunity to analyze how cross-state differences in economic structure and tax composition influences state-level fiscal expenditure allocation decisions. Nigeria's 36 states and the Federal Capital Territory (Abuja) have unique economic structures and independent state and local government entities (Olomola et al. 2014). The Nigerian fiscal system is vertically integrated such that the federal, state, and local governments are all linked by various channels through which government resources flow. The system is somewhat complex in that each level of government has its own sources of revenue, and then, for some taxes, revenues are distributed to higher-level institution, i.e., the federal government, which then redistributes the funds from a central account based on legislatively established criteria (Salami 2011). Thus, all states rely on a federal government allocation to fund state-level programs, but the degree to which individual states rely on this allocation varies based on their socioeconomic characteristics and internal tax structure (Salami 2011).

Regarding agricultural policy implementation in Nigeria, the main institutions that implement agricultural programs are the FMARD, state Ministries of Agriculture, and the ADPs. FMARD recently unveiled a new policy agenda, the Agricultural Promotion Policy (APP), which aims to build a private sector driven agribusiness economy that can sustainably meet Nigeria's domestic food security goals, generate exports, increase farm income, and spur job growth (FMARD 2016). State governments have their own policy initiatives as well, and international institutional donors often coordinate with the state ADPs, since they are the main extension institutions that interact directly with farmers. Since both federal and state institutions both implement agricultural programs, vertical coordination between FMARD and state Ministries of Agriculture plausibly could allow for more efficient achievement of shared policy objectives and outcomes. However, these institutions presently operate with very little synchronization.

The model used here is designed to investigate how the likelihood of sustainability of agricultural programs over time is influenced by the dependence of a state on the federal allocation, which relies heavily on changes in the global oil price. This assessment of fiscal response at state-level builds on models such as that of Gramlich (1969), which showed that different decision-making rules for state government relative to federal institutions can lead to variation in fiscal allocations between levels of government.

Through development of the economic model, it is conjectured that some states are better positioned to accommodate fiscal shocks caused by changes in key macroeconomic variables than are others due to differences in socioeconomic conditions and economic structure. To analyze how fiscal allocations are linked to each other among the various levels of government, how these allocations can change in response to adjustments in key macroeconomic variables, and how allocation changes can impact household decisions, a two-period economic model was developed to represent current conditions in Kaduna. Federal fiscal, state fiscal, and household level data were consulted to calibrate the model, and the economic and fiscal structural conditions that came to light upon examination of these data have important implications for the magnitude of variable changes in the simulation model.

## 3. TYPOLOGIES OF IRRIGATOR FARM HOUSEHOLDS IN NIGERIA

There are four levels in the economic model, which capture the linkages between the federal government, state government, state Ministry of Agriculture, for which donors are a key source of funding, and a set of household types (small, big, and non-farmers). The state government relies on funding allocation from the federal government as part of its revenue, the state Ministry of Agriculture is allocated funds from the state government and donors, and farm households interact with the state Ministry of Agriculture through service or input provision by the Ministry of Agriculture to small farm households. Additionally, all households interact with the state government through payment of income and VAT taxes.

Since the goal of the model is to examine the ability for the state government to fund agricultural programs over time, the model is dynamic. There are two periods, which represent the period before and after a "fiscal shock". The potential fiscal shocks, which are outlined in more detail below, include changes in the global oil price, losses of donor funds, and reductions in small farm household interest rates. It is assumed that the economic structure and household type, i.e., farmer or non-farmer, remain constant over the two periods, as in the Development Policy Evaluation Model (DEVPEM) model of Brooks et al. (2010). Thus, the model does not investigate the issue of agricultural transformation and associated movement of labor out of agriculture into other sectors, or vice versa. Capital assets used in agricultural production, labor endowments, and agricultural technology are assumed to be fixed.

The model elements are described from the top down, beginning with the federal government and ending with households.

#### Government

The complex inter-level flows in funds between Nigerian government institutions, such as state to federal government and back to the state government described above, and in more detail by Salami (2011), are simplified for the purposes of the model. It is assumed here that the federal government is only linked to the state government through its federal allocation. Since most funds flow from the federal to state government

rather than vice versa, the simplification is argued to capture the primary fund flows between levels of government.

## Federal government

Taxes and rents paid by entities in the oil sector remain the principle source of Nigerian government revenue (IMF 2016). In the economic model, the federal government budget is a function of revenues from petroleum and non-petroleum sources. The revenue obtained from the petroleum industry is only a fraction of the total value of oil (defined as the world price of oil multiplied by the quantity of oil produced) that is produced during a given period. Thus, a conversion factor is multiplied by the monetary value of produced oil volumes to account for the less than full pass-through of the total oil production value that is accrued to the government in each period.

The federal government budget constraint for any period t = 1,2 has the form:

$$\Gamma_t = \phi_t + \omega^{\xi}((o_t * e_t) * \Omega_t), \tag{1}$$

where,  $\Gamma_t$  is total federal government revenue,  $\phi_t$  is government revenue from non-petroleum sources,  $o_t$  is the annual average world oil price in U.S. Dollars (USD) per barrel,  $e_t$  is the Nigerian Naira to USD exchange rate, and  $\Omega_t$  is the quantity of oil produced in Nigeria in barrels per year. The parameters are the share of government revenue from the petroleum industry ( $\omega$ ) and the conversion factor used to obtain the share of the total value of oil that is translated into federal government revenue ( $\xi$ ). In currency terms, the federal government budget is in Nigerian Naira.

## State government

Maintaining the assumption that there are only top-down fiscal flows, the state government budget is determined in part by the allocation from the federal government budget, and by internally generated revenue. For purposes of simplification, and thus, ignoring revenue sources such as fees for state government provided services, e.g., motor vehicle registration, two types of taxes are assumed to be obtained by the state government: income taxes and value-added taxes (VAT). These are two of the main revenues collected by state governments, although both income tax and VAT revenues are first aggregated by the federal government and then redistributed in different amounts across states based on criteria established in national legislation (Salami 2011).

Total state government revenues  $(N_t)$  in each period t = 1,2 are composed of revenue from income taxes  $(Y_t)$ , which is comprised of total taxable household income  $(y_t)$  multiplied by the income tax rate  $(\tau)$ , revenue from VAT taxes on durable good expenditures  $(\Lambda_t)$ , which is obtained from VAT tax (v) on total household durable goods expenditures  $(k_t * p_d)$ , where  $k_t$  is total durable good consumption and  $p_d$  is the price of the durable good, and allocated funds from the federal government  $(\Phi_t)$ . The state government budget has the form:

$$N_t = Y_t + \Lambda_t + \Phi_t,$$
 with  $Y_t = \tau y_t$ ;  $\Lambda_t = v(k_t * p_d)$ ; and  $\Phi_t = \delta \Gamma_t$ . (2)

State government expenditures  $(G_t)$  are a summation of appropriations to the Ministry of Agriculture  $(g_{a,t})$  and allocations to all other ministries and administration  $(g_{x,t})$ . State government saving after the first period

is income minus expenditures,  $\Pi_g = N_1 - G_1$ , and there is no government saving in period 2. The carry-over in funds between periods amounts are influenced by the state government interest rate  $(r_g)$ .<sup>4</sup>

## State Ministry of Agriculture

The Ministry of Agriculture has a total operating budget  $(M_t)$  that is a function of the appropriations from the state government as defined above and donor funds  $(\Delta_t)$ . Total Ministry of Agriculture expenditures  $(\Sigma_t)$  are equal to the summation of expenditures on inputs to provide to farmers  $(I_t)$  and administration  $(A_t)$ . The value of saving by the Ministry of Agriculture, which is equal to income minus expenditures,  $\Pi_m = M_1 - \Sigma_1$ , is determined in part by the Ministry's interest rate  $(r_m)$ .

### Households

There are three types of households: non-farmer, big farmer, and small farmer. The demarcation between big farmers and small farmers is made due to differences in their consumption preferences, production technologies, and input endowments found in the household level data. However, there is presently not a clear benchmark in the literature on how to define big or small farms. Kirsten and van Zyl (1998) argue that differentiating farm into sizes based on land area is misleading in terms of farm efficiency and profitability. Additionally, Fan et al. (2013) show evidence that average farm sizes in terms of area differ across developing countries and over time within countries. Thus, for the purposes of this study, we differentiate between big and small farm households based on their level of farm produce commercialization due to presumed differences in input purchase behavior and production technologies among farms with different degrees of market participation. Specifically, if a household has crop sales (both unprocessed and processed) that are greater than two times the median level of crop sales, then they are considered a big farm, and those with less than two times the median level of crop sales are small farms.

Both farm household types are assumed to be different from the non-farm households due to variation in income sources and consumption preferences. There are two household consumption goods, one agricultural and one durable. The farm households produce the agricultural good. For purposes of simplification, it is assumed that the farm households do not consume any of their production, but rather purchase them from the market.

It is assumed that the farm household consumption and production choices are made simultaneously such that their consumption choice depends on their production choice, i.e., they are non-separable, such as in the household models of Singh et al. (1986). Non-separable choices argued by de Janvry and Sadoulet (2006) as consistent with the developing country farmer decision making context in which there are missing or incomplete factor markets, meaning that factor prices are not determined within a perfectly competitive market (Dillon and Barrett 2017). In a recent empirical assessment of agricultural factor markets in SSA, Dillon and Barrett (2017) found that SSA factor markets more commonly fail rather than are completely missing. In the current case of Nigeria, Takeshima et al. (2014) found that very few farmers who purchased tractors used financing, which suggests that at least some factor markets, e.g., finance in the case of tractors, are incomplete in Nigeria. Thus, non-separable choices between production and consumption are argued to fit the present case.

<sup>4</sup> All interest rates included in the model are related to the rate of time preference as defined in Deaton and Muellbauer (1980).

For the purposes of the model, households are linked to the state government in two main ways: 1) all households pay the income tax on taxable income and a VAT tax on durable good purchases, and these revenues accrue to the state government budget; and, 2) the Ministry of Agriculture provides inputs to small households, which influence their income (and, thus, also their level of income tax paid).

#### Small farmer

The small farmer maximizes utility subject to a budget constraint that is in part determined by on-farm production. A constant elasticity of substitution (CES) utility function, as described in Deaton and Muellbauer (1980; p. 57), is used to represent preferences, since it allows for a general representation of preferences across differentiated products. In each period, the small farmer chooses consumption of the agricultural good ( $c_{s,t}^a$ ), consumption of the durable good ( $c_{s,t}^a$ ), and the amount of farm inputs to use in production of the agricultural good ( $i_{s,t}$ ).

Thus, a one-period objective function has the form:

$$\max_{\substack{c_s^a, c_s^d, i_s}} u(c_s^a, c_s^d) = [\mu_s(c_s^a)^{-\lambda_s} + (1 - \mu_s)(c_s^d)^{-\lambda_s}]^{-1/\lambda_s},$$
(3)

where,  $\mu_s$  is the consumption share of the agricultural good, and  $\lambda_s = \frac{(1-\sigma_s)}{\sigma_s}$ , such that  $\sigma_s$  is the elasticity of substitution between the agricultural and durable goods. The small farmer chooses optimal consumption and input combinations in both periods. The small farmer's rate of time preference  $(\beta_s)$  is related to the interest rate for borrowing faced by the small farmer  $(r_s)$  such that,  $\beta_s = 1/(1+r_s)$ , which is consistent with the intertemporal consumption and savings logic outlined in Deaton and Muellbauer (1980; p. 311). The two-period utility function, with t=1,2, has the form:

$$\max_{\substack{c_{s,t}^{a}, c_{s,t}^{d}, i_{s,t} \\ c_{s,t}^{a}, c_{s,t}^{a}, i_{s,t}}} u(c_{s,1}^{a}, c_{s,2}^{a}, c_{s,1}^{d}, c_{s,2}^{d}) = \left[\mu_{s} \left(c_{s,1}^{a}\right)^{-\lambda_{s}} + (1 - \mu_{s}) \left(c_{s,1}^{d}\right)^{-\lambda_{s}}\right]^{-\frac{1}{\lambda_{s}}} + \beta_{s} \left\{ \left[\mu_{s} \left(c_{s,2}^{a}\right)^{-\lambda_{s}} + (1 - \mu_{s}) \left(c_{s,2}^{d}\right)^{-\lambda_{s}}\right]^{-\frac{1}{\lambda_{s}}} \right\}.$$

$$(4)$$

The small farmer has a budget constraint, which maintains same general form in each period such that total expenditures  $(E_{s,t})$  equal total income  $(Y_{s,t})$  across periods, such that:

$$p_d(1+v)c_{s,t}^d + p_i i_{s,t} + p_a c_{s,t}^a = [p_a q_{s,t}^a + Z_s](1-\tau),$$
(5)

with the included parameters defined as,

 $p_d$ : price of the durable good;

v: VAT tax on consumption of the durable good;

 $p_i$ : price of farm input;

 $p_a$ : price of agricultural good;

 $Z_s$ : exogenous income; and,

 $\tau$ : income tax rate.

Since the small farmer makes simultaneous consumption and production decisions, primarily regarding farm input purchases, the small farmer agricultural production function  $(q_{s,t}^a)$  is encompassed into the budget

constraint (equation (5)) for each period. Additionally, the small farmer receives inputs from the Ministry of Agriculture  $(i_{g,t})$  to supplement its own input purchases  $(i_{s,t})$  in production. The small farmer production function, thus, has a Cobb-Douglas form like that in Hayami (1970), such that:

$$q_{s,t}^{a} = f(a_{s}, l_{s}, i_{s,t}, i_{g,t}) = a_{s} l_{s}^{\alpha_{s}} (i_{s,t} + i_{g,t})^{\theta_{s}},$$
(6)

with the included parameters defined as,

 $a_s$ : small farmer technology endowment;

 $l_s$ : labor endowment;  $\alpha_s$ : labor share; and,  $\theta_s$ : farm input share.

The associated intertemporal budget constraint, which includes total small farmer household expenditures and income, is:

$$E_{s,1} + \frac{E_{s,2}}{(1+r_s)} - Y_{s,1} - \frac{Y_{s,2}}{(1+r_s)} = 0.$$
 (7)

Small farmer household saving after the first period is  $\Pi_s = Y_{s,1} - E_{s,1}$ . There is no saving after period 2.

## Big farmer

The big farmer utility maximization problem has virtually the same form to that of the small farmer, but with replacement of the subscript s for b for the big farmer problem. There is one substantive exception that pertains to the big and small farmer interactions with the Ministry of Agriculture. It is assumed that the big farm households do not receive inputs from the Ministry of Agriculture, and so the government input purchase variable is not part of the big farmer production function.

#### Non-farm households

The non-farm household utility maximization problem maintains the same general structure to those of the farm households, but there is no agricultural production function in its budget constraint. Income for the non-farm household is solely from exogenous sources.

## Total income and expenditures

The summation of total expenditures on durable goods across small farmer, big farmer, and non-farm households comprises total household durable expenditures. Summation of total income across all household types comprises total taxable income.

## **Model Solving**

The model is solved using an objective function that maximizes the joint utility for all households, so that each household utility function is given an equal one-third weight in the full system objective function. This combined objective function is maximized such that all household budget, government entity budget, and intertemporal savings constraints are satisfied. Non-negativity constraints on all household choice variables

are also imposed. Appendix A includes a list of all variables and parameters included in the model, and Appendix B shows an outline of the full model.

#### 4. DATA MODEL AND SIMULATION VALUES

There are three primary types of data used to calibrate the simulation model: federal fiscal data, state fiscal data, and household consumption and production data.

## Federal Fiscal Data

The primary sources for information on the Nigerian federal budget were the International Monetary Fund Article IV Consultation Staff Reports for 2000 to 2016 (IMF-Nigeria). Some of the statistics on government revenues included in the tables for these reports on consolidated government operations, which includes federal, state, and local government revenues, are presented in Table 4.1. The degree to which the share of petroleum revenues in total revenues has varied over time, as well as some trends in a few non-petroleum revenue, especially revenue from the VAT, have steadily risen over time, while the petroleum revenue has fluctuated. Regarding the petroleum-based revenue, there is a substantial increase in revenue between 2003 and 2004, which coincides with the global energy and metals commodity boom described by Baffes and Haniotis (2010) during which time prices for energy and metals commodity prices began a sustained upward rise that lasted until the global economic recession in 2008-09. One of the more variable sources of revenue has been VAT revenue, which is somewhat unexpected based on the findings of Ebeke and Ehrhart (2011b) of broadly lower fiscal revenue variability among countries with the VAT than those without. This is plausibly explained by the largely unimpeded rise from a very low level in 2000, and suggests that it may take some years for the stabilizing effects of VAT revenues on the federal budget to emerge.

Table 4.1 Select information on government revenues in Nigeria, 2000-2016, billions of Naira

				Select elements of non- petroleum revenue		
Year	Total Revenue	Petroleum Revenue	Non- petroleum Revenue	Value-adde tax (VAT)	Import and d excise duties	
2000	1,927	1,585	342	58	116	
2001	2,227	1,712	515	92	171	
2002	2,038	1,483	554	109	181	
2003	2,752	2,106	646	136	195	
2004	4,127	3,355	773	157	217	
2005	5,621	4,759	863	184	233	
2006	6,376	5,445	931	227	178	
2007	5,886	4,555	1,331	300	246	
2008	8,063	6,535	1,529	405	281	
2009	5,003	3,192	1,811	468	298	
2010	6,883	4,809	2,074	563	309	

2011	11,285	8,834	2,451	649	422
2012	10,416	7,583	2,833	710	475
2013	8,949	5,774	3,176	769	433
2014	9,484	5,890	3,595	794	566
2015	7,445	3,560	3,885	773	514
2016 (est.)	6,244	1,557	4,687	1,178	636
Mean	6,160.4	4,278.5	1,792.3	447.0	321.8
Standard deviation	2,924.9	2,234.4	1,358.2	327.9	156.1
Coefficient of variatio	n 0.47	0.52	0.76	0.73	0.49

Sources: International Monetary Fund Article IV Consultation Reports for Nigeria 2000 to 2016 (IMF-Nigeria, 2000 to 2016).

The fluctuations in the total government revenue and the revenue from petroleum suggest that there is a high correlation between these variables and the global oil price. Results from exploration of this issue are shown in Table 4.2, which includes the world oil price from the World Bank (2017) alongside total government revenue and the estimated correlation between these variables since 2000. The very high and positive correlation estimate of 0.93 suggests that, to a substantial degree, government revenue in Nigeria moves in line with the global oil price. Since total revenue is the consolidated value of federal, state, and local government revenues, it is expected that the degree to which the state and local government revenue aligns with the federal government varies with the economic structure of the state.

Table 4. 2 Correlation between Nigerian government total revenue and world oil price, 2000-2016

	Total	•••	
	Revenue,	World oil price	
<b>1</b> 7	billions	USD/barrel,	Correlation
Year	Naira	annual avg.	coefficient
2000	1,927	28.23	
2001	2,227	24.35	
2002	2,038	24.93	
2003	2,752	28.90	
2004	4,127	37.73	
2005	5,621	53.39	
2006	6,376	64.29	
2007	5,886	71.12	0.02
2008	8,063	96.99	0.93
2009	5,003	61.76	
2010	6,883	79.04	
2011	11,285	104.01	
2012	10,416	105.01	
2013	8,949	104.08	
2014	9,484	96.24	
2015	7,445	50.75	

Sources: IMF (2016) and World Bank (2017).

#### Kaduna Fiscal Data

The Kaduna government is comprised of several ministries that implement state government service provision activities. In the case of the agricultural sector, projects are implemented using funds from both the general state budget and those provided by donors. Data on total state government revenues were obtained from the Kaduna Ministry of Budget and Planning (KDMBP 2017) and the United Kingdom's Department for International Development (DFID) State Partnership for Accountability, Responsiveness and Capability (SPARC) program fact sheets on Kaduna fiscal conditions for 2004-10 (SPARC 2011). For total revenues and expenditures, the data obtained from the KDMBP and those in SPARC (2011) corresponded well. However, there were discrepancies between the state budgetary allocations to agriculture in SPARC (2011) and those obtained from KDMBP. Thus, budgetary data were also obtained from the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry (KDMAF 2017), but these were only available for 2016. Since those obtained for 2016 were closer in range to those reported in SPARC (2011), the SPARC (2011) expenditures on agriculture were reported for 2004-10 to supplement those obtained from the KDMAF for 2016. The KDMAF data are unique from those in KDMBP (2017) and SPARC (2011) since they provide a demarcation between state government and donor funded projects. Data for 2011 were unavailable from any sources.

## Kaduna Government Revenues and Expenditures on Agriculture

The federal government allocation, total Kaduna government revenues, share of the federal allocation in the total budget, correlation between Kaduna government revenues and the global oil price, total Kaduna government expenditures, allocations by the Kaduna government to the KDMAF, and the share of the KDMAF allocation in total expenditures are shown in Table 4.3. While the federal allocation share of total Kaduna government revenues has fluctuated over time, it has generally remained above 60 percent of the total state government budget. This implies that, on average, roughly 30 to 40 percent of annual Kaduna government revenues are internally generated. The semi-independence of the Kaduna government means that its revenues do not move as closely in line with the global oil price as do the federal government revenues. Indeed, the estimated correlation coefficient between the global oil price and Kaduna government revenues is 0.53, which is lower than to the analogous estimate of 0.93 for the federal government. Kaduna government expenditures have generally shown an upward trend since 2000, but with intermittent fluctuations since 2010. There has not been a steady upward trend in the allocation to the KDMAF, but rather the allocations fluctuated highly from year to year during the period 2004-10. This may be in part due to changes in donor funding provisions during this period, but it is not possible to make this determination, since a demarcation between state government and donor funded activities was not made in the SPARC (2011) report.

Table 4. 3 Kaduna government fiscal conditions, correlation of Kaduna government revenues with global oil price, and allocations to the KDMAF, 2000 – 2016

Year	Federal allocation to Kaduna, billions Naira	Total revenue, billions Naira	Federal allocation as share of total revenue	World oil price, (USD/ barrel, annual avg.	Correlation of total revenue with world oil price	Total state government expendi- tures, billions Naira	KDMAF allocation, billions Naira	KDMAF share of total state expendi- tures, percent
2000	9.00	10.05	0.63	28.23		10.05		•••
2001	11.50	18.36	0.63	24.35		13.64		
2002	12.78	18.06	0.71	24.93		14.12		
2003	14.13	23.46	0.60	28.90		23.65		
2004	20.37	28.73	0.71	37.73		24.69	2.42	9.8
2005	24.51	32.83	0.75	53.39		28.50	0.74	2.6
2006	33.34	42.89	0.78	64.29		33.12	1.85	5.5
2007	42.97	54.72	0.79	71.12		37.02	2.51	6.7
2008	42.41	55.77	0.76	96.99	0.52	40.92	2.33	5.6
2009	37.03	55.19	0.67	61.76		45.51	1.34	2.9
2010	42.94	75.41	0.57	79.04		38.02	5.81	15.3
2011				104.01		•••		
2012	60.57	85.60	0.71	105.01		94.29		
2013	62.13	86.37	0.72	104.08		75.64		
2014	57.69	84.32	0.68	96.24		82.89		
2015	42.18	65.33	0.65	50.75		92.19		
2016	38.93	82.63	0.48	42.81		104.78	2.63	2.5

Sources: Kaduna Ministry of Budget & Planning (KDMBP 2017), Kaduna Ministry of Agriculture & Forestry (KDMAF 2017), SPARC (2011), and the World Bank (2017). KDMAF – Kaduna Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry.

## **Budget of the KDMAF**

The KDMAF is comprised of three main entities: general administration; its ADP; and, the Forest Management Project (FMP). The combined budget for the KDMAF, the share of the budget provided from the state government, the share provided by donors, and the demarcation of expenditures for 2016 are shown in Table 4.4. The KDMAF obtained more than half of its operating budget from donors, and most expenditures were on projects. Allocations for personnel and overhead accounted for the remaining 16.3 percent of expenditures. It is apparent in Table 4.4 that any adjustments to donor funds from 2016 would likely have dramatic effects on the KDMAF budget, especially on project implementation.

Table 4. 4 KDMAF budget for 2016, billions of Naira

Combined	Kaduna state		Share donor	Expenditur	res	
budget for	government		funded,			
KDMAF	allocation	Donor funds	percent	Projects	Personnel	Overhead
5.58	2.63	2.95	53	4.67	0.54	0.37

Source: KDMAF (2017). KDMAF – Kaduna state Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry.

## Household Data

To obtain information on socioeconomic conditions, such as levels of expenditures on consumption, income levels and sources, and farm productivity at the household level, data were obtained from the 2015-16 wave of the National Bureau of Statistics (NBS) and World Bank implemented Living Standards Measurement Study Integrated Surveys on Agriculture (LSMS-ISA) dataset for Nigeria (NBS-World Bank 2016). Summary statistics calculated from these NBS-World Bank (2016) data for various household and economy-wide variables are included in Tables 4.5 to 4.10.

#### Household Characteristics

Recall that there are three household types of focus: non-farms, small farms, and big farms. Additionally, the distinction between big farms and small farms was made regarding crop sales such that big farms were those with double the median amount of crop sales. The median level of annual crop sales was 18,000 Naira. Based on this demarcation level, there were 48 small and 26 big farm households. The addition of the 36 non-farm households leads to a 110-household sample.

To determine if there are differences in preferences for food and durable goods across household types, expenditure levels and expenditures shares for each category of good and household type were calculated. These values were converted to annual values such that the value shown in Table 4.5 presents the average annual expenditure in each category. The data show that there are differences in expenditures between non-farm and farm households regarding total expenditure levels. Non-farm households have higher expenditures in each category, as well as higher total expenditures. However, the food share of the budget (which is the ratio of expenditures on food at home to total expenditures) is similar across household types.

Table 4. 5 Annual expenditures on food and other goods by household type, thousands of Naira

Household type	Durable goods	Education	Food at home	Food away from home	Total	Food at home share
Non-farm	205.73	22.20	341.77	118.89	688.59	0.50
Big farm	123.98	4.05	195.15	76.99	400.17	0.49
Small farm	121.61	8.94	182.28	57.05	369.88	0.49

Source: Authors' calculations from NBS-World Bank (2016) data

The composition of income across household types provides additional insight into the ways in which the households obtain income for expenditures. The income sources and levels obtained from each are shown in Table 4.6. Non-farm households are the only type of households to report any remittance income, but the

clear majority of non-farm income comes from employment. Both big and small farm households obtain a sizeable amount of income from off-farm enterprises, e.g., informal trading. However, big farm households have much higher income from crop sales than small farm households, while small farm households earn more from employment. The observed disparity in the expenditure and income levels is likely due to the differences in survey methods for the expenditure and income questions in the LSMS-ISA surveys. In general, the expenditure questions were answered by a more complete set of households than were income-related questions. Thus, there is likely more aggregation error in the income than expenditure data.

Table 4. 6 Annual income by source, by household type, thousands of Naira

	Income sources						
Household type	Employ- ment	Farm crop sales	Off-farm enterprises	Remit- tances	Total		
Non-farm	358.99			9.44	368.44		
Big farm	3.46	117.01	197.08		317.55		
Small farm	97.88	9.22	147.74		254.84		

Source: Authors' calculations from NBS-World Bank (2016) data

While big farm households had more income from crop sales than small farm households, the differences in characteristics across household types regarding farm assets and agricultural productivity show that small farms are more efficient than big farms. The farm production data presented in Table 4.7 show that big farms produced more, but since they also used more than double the land area relative to small farms, the implied yield is substantially higher for small farms. Small farms also were found to grow a slightly higher number of crop types grown on their farms than big farm households.

Table 4. 7 Average farm production by farm type

		Number of		
	quantity	Area farmed,	Yield,	crops grown,
Farm type	produced, kg	ha	kg/ha	average
Big farm	4,511	3.52	1,282	2.7
Small farm	2,796	1.63	1,715	3.1

Source: Authors' calculations from NBS-World Bank (2016) data

To help explain some of the agricultural productivity differences between small and big farm households, expenditures on agricultural inputs were consulted and are presented in Table 4.8. Big farm households spent more than double the amount of small farm households on fertilizer and labor. Only small farmers obtained any subsidized fertilizer, but the average expenditures on subsidized fertilizer were substantially lower than non-subsidized fertilizer expenditures.

Table 4. 8 Annual farm input and labor expenditures by farm type, thousands of Naira

	Non- subsidized	Subsidized		Pesticide and				
Farm type	fertilizer	fertilizer	Seed	herbicide	Labor	Animals	Machinery	Total
Big farm	42.37	0.00	1.18	8.99	53.36	4.04	1.19	111.13
Small farm	20.62	0.26	0.96	5.98	24.53	2.23	0.29	54.87

Source: Authors' calculations from NBS-World Bank (2016) data

The large disparity in labor expenditures between big and small farms makes it seem that the higher observed implied yield among small farm households could be due to a greater availability of non-hired labor for small farm households. The data displayed in Table 4.9 show that there is not a major difference between household sizes among big and small farms. While small farm households expend less than half as much on hired labor per year than do big farm households, they have nearly the same non-hired labor endowments, and, as seen in Table 4.7, less than half the land to manage with such labor. Thus, labor availability per hectare and labor productivity may be slightly higher for small farms than for big farms.

Table 4.9 Labor endowments and labor share of total farm input expenditures by farm type

Farm type	Household size	Expenditures on hired labor per year, thousands of Naira	total inputs
Big farm	10.2	53.36	0.48
Small farm	9.1	24.53	0.45

Source: Authors' calculations from NBS-World Bank (2016) data

Examination of these household data provides some insights into the composition of the Kaduna economy. If the LSMS-ISA dataset is at least reasonably representative, it means that most of the population in Kaduna reside on small farms, and there are more farm households than non-farm households. However, small farm households were found to obtain the largest share of their income from off-farm enterprises and employment. Since off-farm enterprises were also an important income source for big farm households, farm crop sales comprise a relatively small share of the total Kaduna income generation activities. Regarding expenditures, about half of all household budgets are devoted to food at home. Non-farm households expend more on average than both big and small farm households, especially on durable goods and food away from home. Since durable goods and food away from home are often subject to the VAT, combining the household data with statewide population data provides estimates of how much VAT revenue may have been gathered during the 2015-16 survey year.

### **Economy-wide Variables**

To obtain economy-wide estimates on total durable goods expenditures, it was assumed that the LSMS-ISA sample for Kaduna was reasonably representative for the state. Thus, the shares of small farm households, big farm households, and non-farm households were multiplied by the total population for Kaduna for 2012, which was the most recent year available in the population data in NBS (2012). The total population by household type was then divided by the average household size, as shown in Table 4.9, to obtain the inferred

number of households by type. These are: 308,554 non-farm households, 171,139 big farm households, and 354,140 small farm households. The VAT level is 5 percent on the value of all taxable goods and services as set in the Value-Added Tax Act of 1993 (FIRS 1993).

The data in Table 4.10 show some of the economy-wide economic variable estimates for Kaduna, with a primary focus on VAT revenues and borrowing interest rates. The total expenditures on durable goods were obtained by multiplying the annual average expenditure on durable goods and food away from home for each household type by the implied number of households by type. This was then multiplied by the VAT rate of 5 percent to obtain the estimate of 10.398 billion Naira in implied VAT revenue. This level is somewhat close to that observed in the actual VAT revenue data reported in KDMBP (2017), which means that the aggregation strategy provides reasonable estimates, at least for the case of the VAT revenue. Regarding interest borrowing rates, interest rates are higher in rural than urban areas for larger loans but lower for smaller ones. While these values were obtained from only a few observations in the LSMS-ISA data, the values imply that it is generally more expensive to borrow in rural than urban areas.

Table 4. 10 Total expenditures on durable goods, vat tax rates, and loan interest rates

Total expenditure on durable goods, millions of Naira	VAT rate, percent	Implied VAT tax revenue, millions of Naira	Actual VAT tax revenue for 2015, millions of Naira
207,965	5	10,398	9,597
	Borrowing interest	rates, percent, on a	loan of
	10,000 Naira	50,000 Naira	100,000 Naira
Urban	20	10	20
Rural	15	17.5	25

Source: authors' calculations from NBS-World Bank (2016) data and FIRS (1993)

#### **Model Simulation Values**

The federal fiscal, state fiscal, and household data and their resultant summary statistics were used to calibrate the economic model such that it represents general economic conditions in Kaduna for 2015. The initial values for the parameters and exogenous variables are found in Appendix C.

The federal and state fiscal data parameters were informed based on datasets and reports from a variety of sources. Daily oil production estimates were obtained from the U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA 2015). These were then converted to annual equivalent values. The annual average exchange rate for 2015 was obtained from the IMF International Financial Statistics database (IMF-IFS). The income tax rate was obtained from a report provided by the Kaduna Board of Internal Revenue (KDBIR 2011). While the income tax rate is scaled progressively based on income levels such that higher income earners are taxed at higher rates, the base rate of 7 percent was used under the assumption that most households pay at least that rate, while some pay more and others pay less. In a few cases, the initial parameter and variable values were residuals based on assumptions in the model framework, e.g., zero initial savings.

## 5. SIMULATION SCENARIOS AND RESULTS

Four simulation scenarios were used to assess changes in fiscal and household variable levels after a change in key economy-wide factors. These scenarios are as follows:

- Decrease in the global oil price from the 2015 level;
- Increase in the global oil price from the 2015 level;
- Decrease in donor funds from the 2015 level; and,
- Reduction in the borrowing rate for small farmers.

The importance of oil revenue in the federal fiscal budget and the high reliance on the federal allocation by the Kaduna government observed in the fiscal data make it apparent that changes in the global oil price can filter down to affect Ministry of Agriculture budgets, and to households. Simulation of the first two scenarios are designed to measure how large these effects may be on various fiscal and household variables. The third simulation scenario relates more to the composition of the KDMAF budget, and how changes in the levels of donor funding can influence its resource allocation over time. The final simulation is designed to assess potential effects of reduction of loan borrowing rates for small farm households, which is one of the principal aims of recently outlined Anchor Borrowers' Programme, which is administered by the Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN 2016).

The results from the first simulation of decreases in the global oil price from the 2015 level are shown in Table 5.1. The results show that adjustments in both the federal government and state government budgets can be quite substantial due to decreases in the global oil price. To accommodate the relatively sharp reductions in period 2 income due to the fall in federal allocation levels, the Kaduna government would need to save a substantial amount between period 1 to period 2. Since savings is the difference between period 1 revenues and expenditures, and revenues fall due to the decline in the federal allocation, both period 1 and period 2 Kaduna government expenditures are forced to decline. These reductions in expenditure have particularly poignant implications for its allocations to the KDMAF. After a 30 percent reduction in the global oil price, the allocation of the state government to the KDMAF is estimated to be zero in period 1 to sustain some expenditures in period 2. These reductions in the state government allocations to the KDMAF mean that there is an even higher reliance on donor funds by the KDMAF than before the oil price decrease. Additionally, the KDMAF needs to redistribute the smaller level of funds across the two periods to smooth expenditures to some degree. However, once the decrease in the global oil price reaches 30 percent, the reductions in period 1 spending on farm inputs are reduced to a higher degree than those in period 2. The reduction in spending on inputs reduces small farmer income, requiring small farmers to increase savings. This is accommodated through reductions in consumption, since incomes decline, to smooth consumption across periods.

Table 5. 1 Change in variable values due to decreases in the global oil price

	Base, billions of	′ L				
	Naira	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%
Federal government period 2 income	7,438.29	-355.33	-710.66	-1,065.99	-1,412.32	-1,776.65
State government savings after period 1	-0.39	+1.42	+2.83	+3.63	+4.30	+4.98
State government period 1 income	85.27	-0.01	-0.02	-0.03	-0.06	-0.07
State government period 2 income	85.84	-1.96	-3.91	-5.86	-7.81	-9.76
State government period 1 allocation to KDMAF	2.64	-1.21	-2.44	-2.64	-2.64	-2.64
State government period 2 allocation to KDMAF	2.30	0.00	0.00	-0.48	-1.06	-1.64
KDMAF savings after period 1	0.14	-0.51	-1.03	-0.71	-0.22	+0.27
KDMAF period 1 inputs expenditures	3.09	-0.35	-0.70	-1.15	-1.63	-2.11
KDMAF period 2 inputs expenditures	3.08	-0.30	-0.60	-0.65	-0.65	-0.65
Small farmer savings after period 1	4.95	+0.02	+0.06	+0.06	+0.21	+0.20
Small farmer period 1 income	153.66	-0.15	-0.31	-0.51	-0.93	-1.20
Small farmer period 2 income	156.66	-0.05	-0.10	-0.11	-0.11	-0.11

Source: Model simulation results by authors.

The changes in variable values that result from an increase in the global oil price from the 2015 levels are displayed in Table 5.2. The changes in the levels of the fiscal variables are nearly symmetric to those in scenario 1 such that there are substantial increases in both the federal and state government revenues and expenditures. The increases in period 2 revenues allow the Kaduna government to substantially reduce savings and increase period 1 expenditure. Some of the period 1 expenditure increases are provided to the KDMAF, with the remaining going to increases in allocations to expenditures by other ministries on administration. Due to the larger allocations from the state government, the KDMAF can increase savings and expenditures on agricultural inputs in both periods. Small farm household income increases in both periods. Additionally, small farm households increase expenditures and reduce savings due to the increases in KDMAF provided inputs.

Table 5. 2 Change in variable values due to increases in the global oil price

	Base, billions of	Change fro	om base due	to oil price in	ncrease from	2015 level
	Naira	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%
Federal government period 2 income	7,438.29	+355.33	+710.66	+1,065.99	+1,421.32	+1,776.65
State government savings after period 1	-0.39	-1.47	-2.93	-4.36	-5.80	-7.24
State government period 1 income	85.27	+0.01	+0.01	+0.03	+0.04	+0.04
State government period 2 income	85.84	+1.96	+3.91	+5.87	+7.82	+9.78
State government period 1 allocation to KDMAF	2.64	+0.95	+2.00	+3.12	+4.24	+5.35
State government period 2 allocation to KDMAF	2.30	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KDMAF savings after period 1	0.14	+0.40	+0.85	+1.32	+1.79	+2.27
KDMAF period 1 inputs expenditures	3.09	+0.27	+0.57	+0.89	+1.21	+1.53
KDMAF period 2 inputs expenditures	3.08	+0.23	+0.49	+0.77	+1.04	+1.31

Small farmer savings after period 1	4.95	-0.04	-0.07	-0.17	-0.26	-0.29
Small farmer period 1 income	153.66	+0.12	+0.24	+0.41	+0.58	+0.69
Small farmer period 2 income	156.66	+0.04	+0.08	+0.12	+0.16	+0.20

Source: Model simulation results by authors.

The effects of the reduction in donor funds are next analyzed, and the simulation results provided in Table 5.3. Due to the model design, the largest effects of reductions/losses in donor funds are on the KDMAF budget. Since the state government budget is partially determined by income and VAT taxes, there are some small observed changes in the state government budget, but the federal government budget is not affected. To accommodate the somewhat substantial reductions in the KDMAF budget due to loss of donor funds, the state government increases its allocations to the KDMAF. These increases in state government allocations are not large enough, however, to allow the KDMAF to maintain input expenditure levels across periods. In each period, the KDMAF must increase savings through reductions in expenditures. In the case of a full loss in donor funds, the value of savings carried over by the KDMAF is equivalent to half of all input expenditures. The reductions in input expenditures mean that small farm household income is reduced, which requires them to increase savings to smooth consumption across periods. The changes in small farm household income due to the loss of donor funds are smaller than those observed due to the adjustments in the global oil price, because the estimated reductions in the state government allocations from the federal government due to the oil price change have a larger impact on the overall KDMAF revenue than do losses in donor funds.

Table 5. 3 Change in variable values due to decreases in donor funds

	Base, billions of	Change fro	om base due	e to donor fu	and declines	from 2015
	Naira	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%
Federal government period 2 income	7,438.29	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
State government savings after period 1	-0.39	+0.10	+0.09	0.00	-0.08	-0.16
State government period 1 income	85.27	0.00	-0.01	-0.01	-0.01	-0.02
State government period 2 income	85.84	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
State government period 1 allocation to KDMAF	2.64	-0.10	-0.08	0.00	+0.14	+0.29
State government period 2 allocation to KDMAF	2.30	+0.12	+0.17	+0.17	+0.17	+0.17
KDMAF savings after period 1	0.14	+0.20	+0.47	+0.81	+1.16	+1.52
KDMAF period 1 inputs expenditures	3.09	-0.15	-0.28	-0.40	-0.51	-0.61
KDMAF period 2 inputs expenditures	3.08	-0.13	-0.24	-0.34	-0.44	-0.53
Small farmer savings after period 1	4.95	0.00	+0.02	+0.04	+0.05	+0.06
Small farmer period 1 income	153.66	-0.05	-0.12	-0.18	-0.22	-0.27
Small farmer period 2 income	156.66	-0.02	-0.04	-0.06	-0.07	-0.09

Source: Model simulation results by authors.

Since the model is designed such that the effects of variable changes influence small farmer households to the greatest degree, there is an opportunity to analyze the potential effects of reductions in the loan borrowing rates for small farm households. The simulation results due to reductions in the small farm household loan

borrowing rates are presented in Table 5.4. The results show that small farm households increase savings due to the reduction in the interest rate, primarily through a reduction in period 1 consumption. This implies that small farmers are more willing to delay consumption under lower period 2 loan borrowing rates, and that consumption in period 2 becomes even more important for small household utility than it was prior to the interest rate reduction. The increases in period 2 consumption are seen through increases in consumption of agricultural goods at all levels of interest rate reduction. However, increases in consumption of farm inputs or durable goods are dependent on the size of the interest rate reduction. Under the largest interest rate reduction, period 2 purchases of durable goods increase, while under smaller interest rate reductions period 2 purchases of farm inputs increase. The overall effects of changes in interest rates on the household level variables are smaller in magnitude than those observed with changes in the global oil price, but are somewhat larger than those resulting from a loss in donor funds. This means that adjustments in variables such as the interest rate, which influences general time preference rather than solely input availability, can have more pronounced effects on economic outcomes than initiatives that specifically target one segment of the small household choice problem.

Table 5. 4 Change in variable values due to reductions in the loan interest rate for small farmers

		Change from base due to small farmer interest rate reduction by				rate reduction
	Base	3%	6%	9%	12%	15%
Total period 1 durables expenditures	211.85	0.00	-0.80	-0.79	-0.79	+0.02
Total period 2 durables expenditures	211.35	+0.12	-0.45	-0.34	-0.21	+0.66
State government period 1 allocation to KDMAF	2.64	0.00	+0.01	+0.01	+0.01	-0.01
State government period 2 allocation to KDMAF	2.30	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
KDMAF savings after period 1	0.14	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	-0.01
KDMAF period 1 inputs expenditures	3.09	0.00	+0.02	+0.02	+0.02	0.00
KDMAF period 2 inputs expenditures	3.08	0.00	+0.02	+0.02	+0.02	0.00
Small farmer savings after period 1	4.95	+0.25	+0.73	+0.98	+1.25	+1.37
Small farmer period 1 income	153.66	-0.10	+0.18	+0.09	-0.02	-0.54
Small farmer period 2 income	156.66	0.00	+0.26	+0.25	+0.25	+0.02
Small farmer period 1 agricultural good consumption	68.72	0.00	-0.36	-0.36	-0.36	-0.02
Small farmer period 2 agricultural good consumption	68.30	+0.03	+0.07	+0.10	+0.14	+0.17
Small farmer period 1 durable good consumption	35.74	0.00	-0.40	-0.40	-0.39	-0.04
Small farmer period 2 durable good consumption	35.30	+0.06	-0.23	-0.17	-0.11	+0.29
Small farmer period 1 input purchases	1.08	-0.07	+0.14	+0.07	-0.02	-0.39
Small farmer period 2 input purchases	4.29	+0.01	+0.35	+0.35	+0.34	+0.02

Source: Model simulation results by authors.

#### 6. CONCLUDING REMARKS

The data exploration and simulation results in this study provide detailed insights into the current economic and fiscal conditions in Kaduna, and the degree to which fiscal and household level variables adjust when there are changes in key macroeconomic variables such as the global oil price. The Kaduna government has historically relied somewhat highly on the federal government allocation to fund its operations. Additionally, donor funds comprised roughly half of the 2016 KDMAF budget. This means that downward adjustments in the global oil price, which causes sharp decreases in federal revenues, or drops in donor funding from current levels can cause sharp declines in the availability of funds for agricultural programs, with implications for the well-being of smallholder farmers. The economic model is designed such that the state government can adjust its allocation to the KDMAF to dampen the impact of a loss in donor funds on expenditures on agricultural inputs provided to small farm households. However, in the absence of a similar federal level buffer, a decrease in the oil price affects the entire state government budget by such a large amount that sizable reductions in funding for the Ministry of Agriculture (and other ministries) are observed without an adjustment in the ministry allocation shares from the status quo.

While not captured directly in the empirical analysis, these results imply that there is an opportunity for the FMARD to use a portion of its funds to provide temporary funding to sustain state government or donor funded projects during periods when a negative funding situation occurs or is anticipated. Such an initiative would require FMARD staff to establish regular communication channels and working relationships with state Ministries of Agriculture staff and donors to keep track of ongoing initiatives and funding levels, and to record changes to each over time. A program could be instituted such that state Ministries of Agriculture could then apply for FMARD funding grants that provide such temporary provisions when budgetary conditions worsen. The award of such grants could be based on criteria such as the degree to which the program goals and observed outcomes are consistent with the FMARD policy initiatives, and whether program initiation required large upfront costs that have already been incurred. This would prevent FMARD from incurring potentially large initiation costs for successful programs. Increased coordination and communication between the state Ministries of Agriculture, donors, and the FMARD would plausibly increase the likelihood that agricultural programs are sustained over time, and improve overall public funding efficiency.

Further studies could analyze the funding levels and allocations of the FMARD over time, and measure how large those are relative to most state Ministries of Agriculture budgets. This could allow for a determination of the likelihood that the previously described buffer funding grant program could reasonably be encompassed within the FMARD budget. The estimated grant program cost could then be compared to the estimated potential needs when all Nigerian state Ministries of Agriculture budgets are considered to assess whether such a program could have a sizable impact in all states under current funding levels, or whether the federal government would need to allocate more funds toward the FMARD to sufficiently fund such a program.

Since a state's economic structure impacts average household income and expenditures, which then have feedback effects on state fiscal conditions through taxation channels, there plausibly are differences in the sizes of feedback effects on fiscal conditions across states with different socioeconomic characteristics. Thus, it is encouraged that future studies that estimate economy-wide outcomes such as public and private savings and investment flows across sectors capture the differences in economic and fiscal composition across Nigerian states.

#### **REFERENCES**

Agénor, P. 2016. "Optimal Fiscal Management of Commodity Price Shocks." *Journal of Development Economics* 122, 183-196.

Anderson, K., G. Rausser, and J. Swinnen. 2013. "Political Economy of Public Policies Insights from Distortions to Agricultural and Food Markets." *Journal of Economic Literature* 51(2), 423-477.

Auty, R. 1997. "Natural Resource Endowment, the State and Development Strategy." *Journal of International Development*, 9(4), 651–663.

Baffes, J., and T. Haniotis. 2010. "Placing the 2006/08 Commodity Price Boom into Perspective." Policy Research Working Paper 5371. The World Bank. Washington, DC.

Benin, S., L. McBride, and T. Mogues. 2016. "Why Do African Countries Underinvest in Agricultural R&D?" in *Agricultural Research in Africa: Investing in Future Harvests*, J. Lynam, N. Beintema, J. Roseboom, and O. Badiane, eds. International Food Policy Research Institute. Washington, DC.

Bleaney, M., N. Gemmell, and D. Greenaway. 1995. "Tax Revenue Instability, with Particular Reference to Sub-Saharan Africa." *Journal of Development Studies* 31(6), 883-902.

Bova, E., P. Medas, and T. Poghosyan. 2016. "Resource Revenue Volatility and Macroeconomic Stability in Resource-Rich Countries: The Role of Fiscal Policy." IMF Working Paper WP/16/36. International Monetary Fund. Washington, DC.

Brooks, J. 2010. "Agricultural Policy Choices in Developing Countries: A Synthesis." Paper for the Global Forum on Agriculture Conference on "Policies for Agricultural Development, Poverty Reduction and Food Security" at OECD Headquarters. Paris, France. Online: <a href="http://www.oecd.org/tad/agricultural-policies/46340461.pdf">http://www.oecd.org/tad/agricultural-policies/46340461.pdf</a>.

Brooks, J., M. Filipski, E. Jonasson, and J.E. Taylor. 2010. "Modelling the Distributional Impacts of Agricultural Policies in Developing Countries: The Development Policy Evaluation Model (DEVPEM)." Paper for presentation at the Global Forum on Agriculture. OECD Headquarters, Paris, 29-30 November 2010.

CBN. 2016. "Anchor Borrowers' Programme Guidelines." Development Finance Department. Central Bank of Nigeria. Abuja, Nigeria.

Coate, S., and S. Morris. 1999. "Policy Persistence." American Economic Review 89(5): 1327-1336.

Collier, P. 1988. "Oil Shocks and Food Security in Nigeria." International Labour Review 127(6), 761-782.

Collier, P., and B. Goderis. 2007. "Commodity Prices, Growth, and the Natural Resource Curse: Reconciling a Conundrum." Center for the Study of African Economies Working Paper Series 274. Oxford University.

Collier, P., and A. Hoeffler. 2009. "Testing the Neo-Con Agenda: Democracy in Resource-Rich Societies." *European Economic Review* 53, 293–308.

Deaton, A., and J. Muellbauer. 1980. *Economics and Consumer Behavior*. Cambridge University Press, New York.

De Janvry, A. and E. Sadoulet. 2006. "Progress in the Modelling of Rural Households' Behavior under Market Failures." In Poverty, Inequality and Development: Essays in Honor of Eric Thornbecke, A. de Janvry and R. Kanbur, eds. Springer, New York.

Diao, X., M. Nwafor, V. Alpuerto, K.T. Akramov, V. Rhoe, and S. Salau. 2012. "Nigeria", in Strategies and Priorities for African Agriculture: Economywide Perspectives from Country Studies. X. Diao, J. Thurlow, S. Benin, and S. Fan, eds. International Food Policy Research Institute. Washington, DC.

Diao, X., and M. McMillan. 2017. "Toward an Understanding of Economic Growth in Africa: A Reinterpretation of the Lewis Model." World Development, in press.

Dillon, B., and C.B. Barrett. 2017. "Agricultural Factor Markets in Sub-Saharan Africa: An Updated View with Formal Tests for Market Failure." Food Policy 67: 64-77.

Ebeke, C., and H. Ehrhart. 2011a. "Tax Revenue Instability in Sub-Saharan Africa: Consequences and Remedies." Journal of African Economies 21(1), 1-27.

\_\_\_\_\_. 2011b. "Is VAT Stabilizing?" Etudes et Documents E 2011.24. CERDI. Clermont-Ferrand, France. Online: <a href="http://publi.cerdi.org/ed/2011/2011.24.pdf">http://publi.cerdi.org/ed/2011/2011.24.pdf</a>.

Ehrhart. H., and S. Guerineau. 2011. "Commodity Price Volatility and Tax Revenues: Evidence from Developing Countries." Etudes et Documents E 2011.31. CERDI. Clermont-Ferrand, France. Online: http://publi.cerdi.org/ed/2011/2011.31.pdf.

EIA. 2015. International Data on Daily Petroleum Production. U.S. Energy Information Administration of the U.S. Department of Energy. Washington, DC.

Fan. S., J. Brzeska, M. Keyzer, and A. Halsema. 2013. "From Subsistence to Profit: Transforming Smallholder Farms." Food Policy Report, July 2013. International Food Policy Research Institute. Washington, DC.

Fielding, D. 1997. "Modeling the Determinants of Government Expenditure in Sub-Saharan Africa." Journal of African Economies 6(3), 377-390.

FIRS. 1993. Value Added Tax Act 1993 No. 102, 1993. Nigerian Federal Inland Revenue Service. Abuja, Nigeria. Online: <a href="https://www.firs.gov.ng/Tax-Management/Tax%20Legislations/VAT.pdf">www.firs.gov.ng/Tax-Management/Tax%20Legislations/VAT.pdf</a>.

FMARD. 2016. The Green Alternative: The Agricultural Promotion Policy 2016 - 2020. Primesort Imperial Ltd. Abuja.

Frankel, J. 2011. "How Can Commodity Exporters Make Fiscal and Monetary Policies Less Procyclical?" Harvard Kennedy School Working Paper Series RWP11-015. Online: <a href="https://dash.harvard.edu/handle/1/4735392">https://dash.harvard.edu/handle/1/4735392</a>.

Gang, I., and H. Khan. 1990. "Foreign Aid, Taxes and Public Investment." Journal of Development Economics 34(1-2), 355–69.

Gardner, B. 1992. "Changing Economic Perspectives on the Farm Problem." Journal of Economic Literature 30(1), 62-101. <a href="https://www.istor.org/stable/2727879">www.istor.org/stable/2727879</a>.

Gramlich, E.M. 1969. "State and Local Governments and Their Budget Constraints." International Economic Review 10(2), 163-182. Online: <a href="http://www.jstor.org/stable/2525551">http://www.jstor.org/stable/2525551</a>.

G20. 2016. "Enhancing the Effectiveness of External Support in Building Tax Capacity in Developing Countries." Report by the Platform for Collaboration on Tax to the G20. OECD Publishing. Paris.

Gupta, S., B. Clements, A. Pivovarsky, and E. R. Tiongson. 2004. "Foreign Aid and Revenue Response: Does the Composition of Aid Matter?" In Helping Countries Develop: The Role of Fiscal Policy, S. Gupta, B. Clements, and G. Inchauste, eds. The International Monetary Fund. Washington, DC.

Hadis, K. 2016. "Economic Determinants of Domestic Investment in an Oil-Based Economy: The Case of Iran (1965-2010)." Ph.D. Dissertation. Copenhagen Business School. ISBN: 978-87-93339-93-4.

Hayami, Y. 1970. "On the Use of the Cobb-Douglas Production Function on the Cross-Country Analysis of Agricultural Production." American Journal of Agricultural Economics 52(3): 327-329.

Heller, P.S., 1975. "A Model of Public Fiscal Behavior in Developing Countries: Aid, Investment, and Taxation." The American Economic Review 65(3), 429-445. Online: <a href="http://www.jstor.org/stable/1804844">http://www.jstor.org/stable/1804844</a>.

IEG. 2012. "Agricultural Development Projects in Nigeria." The World Bank, Independent Evaluation Group. Washington, DC.

IMF. 2012. "Macroeconomic Policy Frameworks for Resource-Rich Developing Countries." International Monetary Fund. Washington, DC. Online: <a href="https://www.imf.org/external/np/pp/eng/2012/082412.pdf">https://www.imf.org/external/np/pp/eng/2012/082412.pdf</a>.

\_\_\_\_\_. 2015. "Fiscal Monitor – Now Is the Time: Fiscal Policies for Sustainable Growth." International Monetary Fund. Washington, DC.

\_\_\_\_\_. 2016. Nigeria: 2016 Article IV Consultation. IMF Country Report No. 16/101. International Monetary Fund. Washington, DC.

IMF-IFS. International Financial Statistics Database. International Monetary Fund. Washington, DC. Online: <a href="http://data.imf.org/?sk=5DABAFF2-C5AD-4D27-A175-1253419C02D1">http://data.imf.org/?sk=5DABAFF2-C5AD-4D27-A175-1253419C02D1</a>.

IMF-Nigeria. Nigeria and the IMF. Article IV Staff Reports since 2000. Online: <a href="http://www.imf.org/external/country/NGA/index.htm?type=9998#56">http://www.imf.org/external/country/NGA/index.htm?type=9998#56</a>.

KDBIR. 2011. "Highlights of the Personal Income Tax (Amendment) Act, 2011." Kaduna state Board of Internal Revenue. Kaduna, Nigeria.

KDMAF. 2017. Data Report on Kaduna state Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry Budget Allocation for 2016. Report received 27 March 2017.

KDMBP. 2017. Data Report on Kaduna state Revenues and Allocations for 2000-16. Report received 20 April 2017.

Kirsten, J.F. and J. van Zyl. 1998. "Defining Small-Scale Farmers in the South African Context." *Agrekon* 37(4): 551-562.

Khan, H.A., and E. Hoshino. 1992. "Impact of Foreign Aid on Fiscal Behaviour of LDC Governments." World Development 20(10), 1481–1488.

Khandelwal, P., K. Miyajima, and A. Santos. 2016. "The Impact of Oil Prices on the Banking System in the GCC." IMF Working Paper WP/16/161. International Monetary Fund. Washington, DC.

Konuki, T., and M. Villafuerte. 2016. "Cyclical Behavior of Fiscal Policy among Sub-Saharan African Countries." African Department Paper Series Paper. International Monetary Fund. Washington, DC. ISBN 978-1-51356-354-1.

Mavrotas, G. 2002. "Foreign Aid and Fiscal Response: Does Aid Disaggregation Matter?" Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv 138(3), 534–59.

2005. "Aid Heterogeneity: Looking at Aid Effectiveness from a Different Angle	." J	ournal o	f
International Development 17(8), 1019–1036.			

\_\_\_\_\_. 2010. "Foreign Aid for Development: Issues, Challenges and Agenda." Oxford University Press. Oxford.

\_\_\_\_\_. 2015. "The Macroeconomic Impact of Aid in Recipient Countries: Old Wine in New Bottles?" in *Handbook on the Economics of Foreign Aid*, B.M. Arvin and B. Lew, eds. Edward Elgar Publishing. Cheltenham, UK.

Mavrotas, G., and B. Ouattara 2006a. "Aid Disaggregation, Endogenous Aid and the Public Sector in Aid-Recipient Economies." *Review of Development Economics* 10, 434–51.

\_\_\_\_\_. 2006b. "Public Fiscal Behavior and Aid Heterogeneity in Aid-Recipient Economies." *Journal of Developing Areas* 39, 1–15.

\_\_\_\_\_. 2007. "Aid Modalities and Budgetary Response: Panel Data Evidence." Review of World Economics 143, 720–41.

Mavrotas, G., S. M. Murshed, and S. Torres. 2011. "Natural Resource Dependence and Economic Performance in the 1970-2000 Period." *Review of Development Economics* 15 (1), 124–38.

Mehlum, H., K. Moene, and R. Torvik. 2006. "Institutions and the Resource Curse." *The Economic Journal* 116(508), 1–20.

Mogues, T. 2015. "Political Economy Determinants of Public Spending Allocations: A Review of Theories, and Implications for Agricultural Public Investment." *European Journal of Development Research* 27, 452-473.

Mogues, T. and T. Olofinbiyi. 2016. "Institutions and Public Agricultural Investments: A Qualitative Study of State and Local Government Spending in Nigeria." Nigeria Strategy Support Program Working Paper 37. International Food Policy Research Institute. Abuja, Nigeria.

NAERLS and FDAE. 2013. "Agricultural Performance Survey of 2013 Wet Season in Nigeria." National Agricultural Extension and Research Liaison Service, Zaria, Nigeria, and Federal Department of Agricultural Extension, Abuja, Nigeria.

NBS. 2012. Kaduna – Total Population. Nigeria Data Portal, Nigeria National Bureau of Statistics. Abuja, Nigeria. Online: http://nigeria.opendataforafrica.org/apps/atlas/Kaduna/Total-Population.

NBS-World Bank. 2016. Nigeria – General Household Survey, Panel 2015-16: Wave 3 Dataset. Nigeria National Bureau of Statistics and the World Bank. Online: <a href="http://microdata.worldbank.org/index.php/catalog/2734/study-description">http://microdata.worldbank.org/index.php/catalog/2734/study-description</a>. (accessed 17 February 2017).

Olofinbiyi, T. and T. Mogues, 2016. "Who Influences Government Spending in Agriculture? The Roles of Public Actors in Subnational Funding Allocation in Nigeria." Nigeria Strategy Support Program Working Paper 36. International Food Policy Research Institute. Abuja, Nigeria.

Olomola, A., T. Mogues, T. Olofinbiyi, C. Nwoko, E. Udoh, R. Alabi, J. Onu, and S. Woldeyohannes. 2014. "Analysis of Agricultural Public Expenditures in Nigeria: Examination at the Federal, State, and Local Government Levels." IFPRI Discussion Paper 01395. International Food Policy Research Institute. Washington, DC.

Otaha, J. I. 2012. "Dutch Disease and Nigeria Oil Economy." African Research Review 6 (1), 82–90.

Otim, S. 1996. "Foreign Aid and Government Fiscal Behavior in Low-income South Asian Countries." *Applied Economics* 28, 927–33.

Ouattara, B. 2006a. "Aid, Debt and Fiscal Policies in Senegal." *Journal of International Development* 8, 1105–22.
\_\_\_\_\_\_. 2006b. "Foreign Aid and Government Fiscal Behaviour: Panel Data Evidence." *Economic Modelling* 23, 506–14.

Primus, K. 2016. "Fiscal Rules for Resource Windfall Allocation." IMF Working Paper WP/16/188. International Monetary Fund. Washington, DC.

Rodrik, D. 1995. "Political Economy of Trade Policy." In *Handbook of International Economics Volume 3*, G.M. Grossman and K. Rogoff, eds., 1457-94. Elsevier Publishers B.V. Amsterdam.

Ross, M. 2001. "Does Oil Hinder Democracy?" World Politics 53, 325–361.

Sachs, J., and A.M. Warner. 2001. "The Curse of Natural Resources." *European Economic Review* 45 (4-6), 827–38.

Salami, A. 2011. "Taxation, Revenue Allocation and Fiscal Federalism in Nigeria: Issues, Challenges and Policy Options." *Economic Annals* LVI (189), 27-50.

Schultz, T.W. 1945. Agriculture in an Unstable Environment. McGraw Hill. New York, NY.

Singh, I., L. Squire, and J. Strauss. 1986. "A Survey of Household Models: Recent Findings and Policy Implications." The World Bank Economic Review 1(1), 149-179. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3989948.

SPARC. 2011. "Public Financial Management: Kaduna state Government Fact Sheet 01." The State Partnership for Accountability, Responsiveness and Capability (SPARC) Nigeria Fact Sheets for 2004-10. Online: <a href="http://library.sparc-nigeria.com/Delivery.aspx?AttachmentID=2a06796a-6bf8-11e6-bbec-001dd8f01c20">http://library.sparc-nigeria.com/Delivery.aspx?AttachmentID=2a06796a-6bf8-11e6-bbec-001dd8f01c20</a>.

Sumner, D.A. 2007. "Farm Subsidy Tradition and Modern Agricultural Realities." Agricultural Issues Center Report. University of California, Davis. Online: <a href="http://aic.ucdavis.edu/research/farmbill07/aeibriefs/20070515">http://aic.ucdavis.edu/research/farmbill07/aeibriefs/20070515</a> sumnerRationalesfinal.pdf.

Takeshima, H., H. Edeh, A. Lawal, and M. Isiaka. 2014. "Tractor Owner-Operators in Nigeria: Insights from a Small Survey in Kaduna and Nasarawa States." IFPRI Discussion Paper 01355. International Food Policy Research Institute. Washington, DC.

Talvi, E., and C.A. Végh. 2005. "Tax Base Variability and Procyclical Fiscal Policy in Developing Countries." Journal of Development Economics 78, 156-190.

World Bank. 2007. "World Development Report 2008: Agriculture for Development." The World Bank. Washington, DC. Online: <a href="https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/5990">https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/5990</a>.

\_\_\_\_\_. 2017. Commodity Price Data (The Pink Sheet). Online: http://www.worldbank.org/en/research/commodity-markets (accessed 27 March 2017).

### **APPENDICES**

## Appendix A: List of variables and parameters in the model

#### Variable

Households

(types: small farmer (s), big farmer (b), non-farmer (n))

 $c_i^a$ : consumption of agricultural good by j=s,b,n

 $c_i^d$ : consumption of the durable good by j=s,b,n

 $i_l$ : farm input purchases by l=s,b

 $i_g$ : farm input purchases by government

 $q_I^a$ : quantity of agricultural good produced by  $\not\models$ s,b

 $E_i$ : total household expenditure by j=s,b,n

 $Y_i$ : total income for j=s,b,n

 $\Pi_i$ : household savings by j=s,b,n

#### Government

y: total taxable household income

k: total value of household durable good consumption

 $\Gamma$ : total federal government revenues

o: world oil price

 $\Phi \!\!:$  federal government allocation to state government

N: state government revenues

Y: income tax revenue

Λ: VAT tax revenue

 $\mathbf{g}_{a}$ : state government appropriation to Ministry of Agriculture

**g**<sub>x</sub>: state government appropriation to non-agriculture ministries and administration

G: total state government expenditures

 $\Pi_a$ : state government savings

M: total Ministry of Agriculture revenue

Δ: donor funds to Ministry of Agriculture

Σ: total Ministry of Agriculture expenditures

I: Ministry of Agriculture expenditure on farm inputs

A: Ministry of Agriculture expenditure on administration

 $\Pi_m$ : state Ministry of Agriculture savings

#### **Parameters**

Households

(types: small farmer (s), big farmer (b), non-farmer (n))

 $\mu_i$ : consumption share parameter by j=s,b,n

 $\lambda_i$ : consumption substitution parameter j=s,b,n

 $\sigma_j$ : elasticity of substitution for j=s,b,n

 $\beta_i$ : rate of time preference for j=s,b,n

 $r_i$ : interest rate for j=s,b,n

 $p_a$ : price of the agricultural good

 $p_d$ : price of the durable good

 $p_i$ : price of the farm input

 $a_l$ : production technology for farmer l=s,b

 $l_l$ : labor endowment for farmer l=s,b

 $\alpha_l$ : labor share of agricultural production for farmer

l=s,b

 $\theta_l$ : farm input share for farmer l=s,b

 $Z_j$ : exogenous income for j=s,b,n

## Government

v: VAT tax on durable good

 $\tau$ : income tax rate

 $r_a$ : interest rate for state government

 $r_m$ : interest rate for state Ministry of Agriculture

e: dollar to Naira exchange rate

 $\Omega$ : quantity of oil produced

 $\omega$  : share of federal government revenue from petroleum

 $\xi$ : conversion factor of oil production nominal value to government revenue

 $\phi$ : federal government revenue from non-petroleum

 $\delta$ : state share of total federal government revenues

## Appendix B: Outline of the full economic model

Small farmer problem

$$\max_{\substack{c_{s,t}^{a}, c_{s,t}^{d}, i_{s,t} \\ c_{s,t}^{a}, c_{s,t}^{d}, c_{b,t}^{d}, c_{b,t$$

$$\begin{split} E_{s,2} &= p_d (1 + \nu) c_{s,2}^a + p_i i_{s,2} + p_a c_{s,2}^a \\ Y_{s,1} &= [p_a q_{s,1}^a + Z_{s,1}] (1 - \tau), \\ Y_{s,2} &= [p_a q_{s,2}^a + Z_{s,2}] (1 - \tau), \\ \Pi_s &= Y_{s,1} - E_{s,1}, \end{split}$$

$$q_{s,1}^a = a_s l_s^{a_s} (i_{s,1} + i_{g,1})^{\theta_s}$$
, and  $q_{s,2}^a = a_s l_s^{a_s} (i_{s,2} + i_{g,2})^{\theta_s}$ .

## Non-farmer problem

$$\max_{c_{n,t}^a, c_{n,t}^d} u\left(c_{n,1}^a, c_{n,2}^a, c_{n,1}^d, c_{n,2}^d\right) = \left[\mu_n \left(c_{n,1}^a\right)^{-\lambda_n} + \left(1 - \mu_n\right) \left(c_{n,1}^d\right)^{-\lambda_n}\right]^{-\frac{1}{\lambda_n}} + \beta_n \left\{ \left[\mu_n \left(c_{n,2}^a\right)^{-\lambda_n} + \left(1 - \mu_n\right) \left(c_{n,2}^d\right)^{-\lambda_n}\right]^{-\frac{1}{\lambda_n}} \right\}$$
s.t.
$$E_{n,1} + \frac{E_{n,2}}{(1+r_n)} - Y_{n,1} - \frac{Y_{n,2}}{(1+r_n)} = 0,$$

$$\lambda_n = \frac{(1-\sigma_n)}{\sigma_n},$$

$$E_{n,1} = p_d (1+v) c_{n,1}^d + p_a c_{n,1}^a,$$

$$E_{n,2} = p_d (1+v) c_{n,2}^d + p_a c_{n,2}^a,$$

$$Y_{n,1} = Z_{n,1} (1-\tau),$$

$$Y_{n,2} = Z_{n,2} (1-\tau), \text{ and}$$

$$\Pi_n = Y_{n,1} - E_{n,1}.$$

#### Federal government

$$\Gamma_1 = \phi + \omega^{\xi}((o_1 * e) * \Omega)$$
  
$$\Gamma_2 = \phi + \omega^{\xi}((o_2 * e) * \Omega)$$

### Big farmer problem

$$\max_{c_{b,t}^{a}, c_{b,t}^{d}, i_{b,t}} u(c_{b,1}^{a}, c_{b,2}^{a}, c_{b,1}^{d}, c_{b,2}^{d}) =$$

$$[\mu_{b}(c_{b,1}^{a})^{-\lambda_{b}} + (1 - \mu_{b})(c_{b,1}^{d})^{-\lambda_{b}}]^{-\frac{1}{\lambda_{b}}} +$$

$$\beta_{b}\left\{ \left[ \mu_{b}(c_{b,1}^{a})^{-\lambda_{b}} + (1 - \mu_{b})(c_{b,1}^{d})^{-\lambda_{b}} \right]^{-\frac{1}{\lambda_{b}}} \right\}$$
s.t.
$$E_{b,1} + \frac{E_{b,2}}{(1+r_{b})} - Y_{b,1} - \frac{Y_{b,2}}{(1+r_{b})} = 0,$$

$$\lambda_{b} = \frac{(1-\sigma_{b})}{\sigma_{b}},$$

$$E_{b,1} = p_{d}(1 + v)c_{b,1}^{d} + p_{i}i_{b,1} + p_{a}c_{b,1}^{a},$$

$$E_{b,2} = p_{d}(1 + v)c_{b,2}^{d} + p_{i}i_{b,2} + p_{a}c_{b,2}^{a},$$

$$Y_{b,1} = [p_{a}q_{b,1}^{a} + Z_{b,1}](1-\tau),$$

$$Y_{b,2} = [p_{a}q_{b,2}^{a} + Z_{b,2}](1-\tau),$$

$$\Pi_{b} = Y_{b,1} - E_{b,1},$$

$$q_{b,1}^{a} = a_{b}l_{b}^{\alpha_{b}}(i_{b,1})^{\theta_{s}}, \text{ and}$$

$$q_{b,2}^{a} = a_{b}l_{b}^{\alpha_{s}}(i_{b,2})^{\theta_{s}}.$$

### State government

$$\begin{split} &\mathbf{N}_{1} = \mathbf{Y}_{1} + v\mathbf{K}_{1} + \delta\Gamma_{1} \\ &\mathbf{N}_{2} = \mathbf{Y}_{2} + v\mathbf{K}_{2} + \delta\Gamma_{2}\,\mathbf{G}_{1} = \mathbf{g}_{a,1} + \mathbf{g}_{x,1} \\ &\mathbf{G}_{2} = \mathbf{g}_{a,2} + \mathbf{g}_{x,2}, \\ \text{s.t.} \\ &\mathbf{N}_{1} + \frac{\mathbf{N}_{2}}{(1+r_{g})} - \mathbf{G}_{1} - \frac{G_{2}}{(1+r_{g})} = \mathbf{0}, \\ &\mathbf{\Pi}_{g} = \mathbf{N}_{1} - \mathbf{G}_{1}, \\ &\mathbf{Y}_{1} = \mathbf{Y}_{s,1}\mathbf{\tau} + \mathbf{Y}_{b,1}\mathbf{\tau} + \mathbf{Y}_{n,1}\mathbf{\tau}, \\ &\mathbf{Y}_{2} = \mathbf{Y}_{s,2}\mathbf{\tau} + \mathbf{Y}_{b,2}\mathbf{\tau} + \mathbf{Y}_{n,2}\mathbf{\tau}, \\ &\mathbf{K}_{1} = c_{s,1}^{d} + c_{b,1}^{d} + c_{n,1}^{d}, \\ &\mathbf{K}_{2} = c_{s,2}^{d} + c_{b,2}^{d} + c_{n,2}^{d}, \end{split}$$

#### State Ministry of Agriculture

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{M}_1 &= \mathbf{g}_{a,1} + \Delta_1, \\ \mathbf{M}_2 &= \mathbf{g}_{a,2} + \Delta_2, \\ \Sigma_1 &= \mathbf{I}_1 + \mathbf{A}_1, \\ \Sigma_2 &= \mathbf{I}_2 + \mathbf{A}_2, \\ \text{s.t.} \\ \mathbf{M}_1 + \frac{\mathbf{M}_2}{(1+r_m)} - \Sigma_1 - \frac{\Sigma_2}{1+r_m} = 0, \\ \mathbf{\Pi}_m &= \mathbf{M}_1 - \Sigma_1, \\ \mathbf{I}_1 &= p_i i_{g,1}, \text{ and } \\ \mathbf{I}_2 &= p_i i_{g,2}. \end{split}$$

Note: Non-negativity is imposed on all household choice variables.

# Appendix C: Parameter and exogenous variable initial values

Parameter values based on gathered data

Parameters	Parameter value	es Calculation method				
Households (types: small farmer (s), big farm	nrmer (b), non-farmer (n))					
$\mu_j$ : consumption share parameter by $j=s,b,n$	$\mu_s$ : 0.49 $\mu_b$ : 0.49 $\mu_n$ : 0.50	Share of total expenditure devoted to food at home				
$\beta_j$ : rate of time preference for $j=s,b,n$ $r_j$ : interest rate for $j=s,b,n$	$r_s$ : 0.192 $r_b$ : 0.192 $r_n$ : 0.167	Average interest rates: rural for farm households and urban for non-farm				
$a_l$ : production technology for farmer $l=s,b$	$a_s$ : 1.34 $a_b$ : 1	Ratio of implied yield (in kg/ha) from production (kg) and avg. farm size (ha.)				
$l_j$ : labor endowment for farmer $l=s,b$	<i>l<sub>s</sub></i> : 10 <i>l<sub>b</sub></i> : 13.1	Expenditure on labor per household multiplied by number of households				
$\alpha_l$ : labor share of agricultural production for farmer $l=s,b$	$\alpha_s$ : 0.48 $\alpha_b$ : 0.57	Ratio of labor expenditures to total expenditures				
$\theta_l$ : farm input share for farmer $l=s,b$	θ <sub>s</sub> : 0.46 θ <sub>b</sub> : 0.39	Ratio of fertilizer to total input expenditures				
$Z_j$ : exogenous income for $j=s,b,n$	Z <sub>s</sub> : 160 Z <sub>b</sub> : 85 Z <sub>n</sub> : 230	Total expenditure minus crop sales (for farm households) plus implied income tax				
Government						
${m v}$ : VAT tax rate on durable good	<b>v</b> : 0.05	Source: FIRS				
$\tau_j$ : income tax rate for $j$ =s,b,n	$\tau_s$ : 0.07 $\tau_b$ : 0.07 $\tau_n$ : 0.07	Source: Kaduna state Board of Internal Revenue				
$r_g$ : interest rate for state government	<i>r<sub>g</sub></i> : 0.167	Assumed equivalence with average urban rate				
$r_m$ : interest rate for state Ministry of Agriculture	<i>r<sub>m</sub></i> : 0.167	Assumed equivalence with average urban rate				
$\Omega$ : quantity of oil produced	Ω: 832,701 bbl per year	Annual equivalent of EIA daily estimate				
e: dollar to Naira exchange rate	e: 197 N/\$	IMF IFS exchange rate for 2015				
$\omega$ : share of federal government revenue from petroleum	$\omega : 0.48$	Ratio of petroleum-based revenue to total				
$\xi$ : conversion factor of oil production nominal value to government revenue	ξ: 1.16	Used values above to solve for parameter				
$\phi$ : federal government revenue from non- petroleum	<b>φ</b> : 3,885 bil. Naira	IMF Article IV data for 2015				
ho: share of state government funds allocated to non-agriculture ministries and administration	<b>ρ</b> : 0.975	Use ratio for 2016, and assume same for 2015				
$\delta$ : state share of total federal government revenues	$\delta : 0.0055$	Ratio of federal allocation to total federal revenue				

# Other parameter values to input based on assumptions and gathered data

Parameters	Para- meter values	Calculation method
Households (types: small farmer (s), big farm	ner (b), nor	n-farmer (n))
$\lambda_j$ : consumption substitution parameter $j$ =s,b,n $\sigma_j$ : elasticity of substitution for $j$ =s,b,n	$\lambda_j$ : -0.333 $\sigma_j$ : 1.5	$\sigma_j = 1$ implies a Cobb-Douglas form, $\sigma_j = 0$ implies perfect complements, and $\sigma_j = \infty$ implies perfect substitutes. Assume imperfect substitutability based on expenditure share data.
$p_a$ : price of agricultural good	<i>p</i> <sub>a</sub> : 1	Agricultural good is numeraire
$p_d$ : price of durable good	$p_d$ : 2	Used expenditure share of non-food to food expenditure relative to total expenditure to infer price
$p_i$ : price of farm input	<i>p<sub>i</sub></i> : 4.6	Used expenditure share of farm input expenditure relative to total expenditure to infer price

# Initial values of exogenous household variables based on gathered data

		Initial variable	
		values, in billions of	
	Variables	Naira	Calculation method and assumptions
	Households (types: small farmer (s), bit	g farmer (b), n	on-farmer (n))
<i>j</i> =s,b,n	$c^a_j$ : consumption of agricultural good by	$c_s^a$ : 67 $c_b^a$ : 34 $c_n^a$ : 106	Total expenditure on food multiplied by number of households by type and rounded
<i>j</i> =s,b,n	$c_j^d$ : consumption of the durable good by	$c_s^d$ : 33 $c_b^d$ : 17 $c_n^d$ : 53	Total expenditures on non-food and non-farm inputs multiplied by number of households by type, divided by the price and rounded
	$i_l$ : farm input purchases by $l=s,b$	<i>i<sub>s</sub></i> : 4 <i>i<sub>b</sub></i> : 5	Total expenditures on inputs by farm households multiplied by number of households by type and divided by the price
	$i_g$ : farm input purchases by government	<i>i<sub>g</sub></i> : 0.65	Assume at least half of project funds devoted to inputs

# Initial values of exogenous government variables based on gathered data

Variables	Initial variable values, in billions of Naira, unless noted otherwise	Calculation method and assumptions
Government		
o: world oil price (in USD/bbl.)	o: 50.75 \$/bbl.	Annual average World Bank price for 2016
$g_a$ : state government appropriation to Ministry of Agriculture	g <sub>a</sub> : 2.3	Assume ratio from 2016 applies for 2015 and multiplied ratio by 2015 total expenditures
$g_x$ : state government appropriation to non-agriculture ministries and administration	g <sub>x</sub> : 83	Residual value from total revenue based on other initial values to make initial state government savings equal to zero
$\Pi_g$ : state government savings	$\Pi_g$ : 0	Assume initially zero savings
Δ: donor funds to Ministry of Agriculture	Δ: 3	Assume 2016 value applies for 2015
I: Ministry of Agriculture expenditure on farm inputs	I: 3	Assume most of donor funds go to input purchases
A: Ministry of Agriculture expenditure on administration	A: 2.3	Residual value to make initial savings equal to zero
$\Pi_m$ : State Ministry of Agriculture savings	$\Pi_{m}$ : 0	Assume initially zero savings

